
 
 

 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
 
22 March 2021 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
 
A meeting of the Planning Committee will be held in Online Meeting on Tuesday, 30th 
March, 2021 at 6.00 pm. Members of the Committee are requested to attend. 
 
 
Yours faithfully 
 

 
Chief Executive 
 

A G E N D A 
 

NON CONFIDENTIAL 
 
 
1 Apologies for Absence  

2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 14) 

3 Declarations of Interest  

N0N-CONFIDENTIAL



 To receive any declarations of Members’ interests (pecuniary and non-
pecuniary) in any matters which are to be considered at this meeting. 

 
When Members are declaring a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in 
respect of which they have dispensation, they should specify the nature of 
such interest.  Members should leave the room if they have a pecuniary or 
non-pecuniary interest in respect of which they do not have a dispensation.   

 

4 Applications for Consideration  

 Summary of Applications received: 
 
 
 

 a Dosthill Primary School Variation  (Pages 15 - 26) 

  (Report of the Assistant Director Growth and Regeneration) 
 
Application no: 0012/2021 
Development: Variation of condition 2 of planning permission 0409/2019: 
revised drawings and documents submitted relating to the repositioning of 
the haul road 
Location: Dostill Primary School, High Street, Dosthill, Tamworth, B77 
 
 

 b Woodhouse Lane Variation  (Pages 27 - 34) 

  (Report of the Assistant Director Growth and Regeneration) 
 
Application no: 0105/2021 
Development: Variation of conditions relating to approved planning 
permission ref. 0323/2019 - condition 2 (approved plans) and condition 6 
(onsite parking provision)  
Location: 4 and 6 Woodhouse Lane, Amington, TAMWORTH, B77 3AE 
 
 

 c Former John Lewis redevelopment  (Pages 35 - 56) 

  (Report of the Assistant Director Growth and Regeneration) 
 
Application no: 0501/2020 
Development: Subdivision of the existing retail unit to create two units and to 
allow the sale of food from both units, alterations to the external appearance 
of the building and the existing car park, provision of a new service yard, 
and the erection of a restaurant and drive thru facility and associated 
landscaping works 
Location: Former John Lewis Store, Ventura Park 
 
 

 d Albert Road  (Pages 57 - 64) 



  (Report of the Assistant Director Growth and Regeneration) 
 
Application no: 0477/2020 
Development: New disability accessible treatment room with covered link 
(re-submission of 0238/2020) 
Location: 58 Albert Road, Tamworth, B79 7JN 
 
 

 e Dunstall Farm ph3 re-plan  (Pages 65 - 160) 

  (Report of the Assistant Director Growth and Regeneration) 
 
Application no: 0014/2021 
Development: Reserved Matters application for the re-plan of approved 
planning permission ref. 0433/2019 for Phase 3 layout comprising 
application for appearance, landscaping, layout and scale for 232 dwellings 
(a reduction of nine dwellings from previously approved layout). 
Location: Land at Dunstall Farm, Dunstall Lane / Ventura Park Road / 
Meadow Road, Tamworth, Staffordshire, B78 3AX 
 
 

 
   _______________________________________ 
 
Access arrangements 

If you have any particular access requirements when attending the meeting, please contact 
Democratic Services on 01827 709267 or e-mail democratic-services@tamworth.gov.uk. We can 
then endeavour to ensure that any particular requirements you may have are catered for. 
 
Filming of Meetings 

The public part of this meeting may be filmed and broadcast.  Please refer to the Council’s 

Protocol on Filming, Videoing, Photography and Audio Recording at Council meetings which can 

be found here for further information. 

The Protocol requires that no members of the public are to be deliberately filmed.  Where 

possible, an area in the meeting room will be set aside for videoing, this is normally from the front 

of the public gallery.  This aims to allow filming to be carried out whilst minimising the risk of the 

public being accidentally filmed.    

If a member of the public is particularly concerned about accidental filming, please consider the 

location of any cameras when selecting a seat. 

FAQs 

For further information about the Council’s Committee arrangements please see the FAQ page 

here 

 

 
 
 
 

mailto:democratic-services@tamworth.gov.uk
https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/councillors_docs/TBC-Filming-Protocol.docx
https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/council-meetings-faqs


 
 
 
To Councillors: P Thurgood, M Bailey, P Brindley, J Chesworth, C Cooke, M J Greatorex, 

T Jay, R Kingstone, K Norchi, M Oates, S Pritchard, P Standen and 
M Summers 



 

 

1  
 

 
 
 
 
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
HELD ON 2nd MARCH 2021 

 
 

 
PRESENT: Councillor P Thurgood (Chair), Councillors M Bailey (Vice-Chair), 

P Brindley, J Chesworth, C Cooke, M J Greatorex, R Kingstone, 
K Norchi, M Oates, S Pritchard, P Standen and M Summers 

 
The following officers were in attendance: Manjit Dhillon (Planning Solicitor), 
Eleanor Overton (Head of Planning), Andrew Brough (Planning Officer), Tracey 
Pointon (Legal Admin & Democratic Services Manager), Jodie Small (Legal, 
Democratic and Corporate Support Assistant) and Adam Deakin (Technical 
Infrastructure Engineer) 
 
Apologies received from: Councillor(s) T Jay 
 

19 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 19th January 2021 were approved and signed 
as a correct record. 
 
(Moved by Councillor M Oates and seconded by Councillor P Brindley) 
 

20 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no Declarations of Interest. 
 

21 APPLICATIONS FOR CONSIDERATION  
 
21.1 Golf Course update report ref:0471/2019  
 
Update Note: 0471/2019 (re-plan of the Golf Course SUE) 
 
Application 0471/2019 was originally considered by the Planning Committee on 
the 9th June 2020. During this meeting it was resolved to approve the application 
subject to the recommended conditions and a legal agreement to tie the 
application (0471/2019) to the original outline planning approval for the wider site 
(0088/2015). The purpose of the suggested legal agreement was to ensure that 
the original developer contributions sought would be applicable to the current 
scheme. However, as this application comprises of a new, full planning 
application for the erection of N.13 dwellings, it must be assessed as such. There 
are no provisions available to secure developer contributions relating to a historic 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee 2 March 2021 

 

 

2 
 

application, to be tied to a new planning application on the same site. 
Furthermore, during the intervening period between the original outline 
application and the application subject of this report, there have been various 
changes in planning policy, which may have altered the level/type of contributions 
sought.  
On account of this, it has been necessary to undertake a re-consultation and re-
assessment of this planning application, to determine the required level of 
developer contributions.  
This update note should be read in conjunction with the main report and 
recommended conditions (appendix 1)  
 
Planning Considerations  
 
The detailed planning considerations applicable to this application have been 
previously considered, as set out within the main report at appendix 1 and have 
been resolved as acceptable. The only consideration to be updated within this 
report is that of Developer Contributions. 
  
Developer Contributions and Obligations  
 
Policy IM1 of the LP states that planning permission will only be granted if it is 
supported by appropriate infrastructure at a timely stage. The Policy continues, 
identifying when specific contributions will be requested, what is required across 
the Borough and how funds will be spent. The Policy also outlines criteria (a – g) 
which identify strategic infrastructure requirements.  
When considering whether or not to request a developer contribution there are 
applicable legal tests which must be met, identifying the circumstances in which a 
s106 agreement can be utilised. These tests are set out in regulations 122 and 
123 of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010, as amended 
(and within paragraph 56 of the NPPF).  
The contributions sought must address the specific impacts brought about by the 
new development. To ensure this, contribution requests must meet the following 
tests, they must be:  
 

1 Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms 
 

2 Directly related to the development; and 
3 Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 

development. 
 
All consultees have been re-consulted to determine whether any additional 
developer contributions/obligations would be necessary. Based on the re-
consultation, the following developer contributions have been requested:- 

 
 

 Schools Organisation contribution – £54,743.52  

 

 CIL – circa £67,000 (based on £35 per sqm)  
 

Page 6



Planning Committee 2 March 2021 

 

 

3 
 

The Education request has been justified on the basis of the changed size of the 
dwellings proposed, in that this application has substituted the smaller flats 
(approved under the original outlie application) for larger family sized homes, 
therefore resulting in a likely increase in the demand for school places.  
 
In regards to the CIL contribution sought, this reflects an update in Policy since 
the original decision on the outline application was made. The Council now have 
an adopted CIL charging schedule and on the basis of this, the referenced 
contribution is sought.  
 
The contributions sought within this update note would only relate to this 
application and would not be in addition to the contributions secured via the 
outline S106 agreement. The applicant would have the choice over which consent 
to implement, however developer contributions would be necessary regardless of 
whether the original Reserved Matters consent, or this application was to be 
implemented.  
 
This full application would be subject to a separate S106 agreement to secure the 
developer contributions identified.  
As previously mentioned, there have been no amendments to the proposed 
development since the application was last brought before Planning Committee, 
the only matter to consider is that concerning developer contributions/obligations.  
 
In this case it is considered that the contributions requested would meet the 
identified tests and therefore can be secured by way of a legal agreement. The 
proposal is thus compliant with policy IM1 of the Local Plan and the section 106 
guidance.  
 
Conclusion  
 
On the basis of the content of the appraisal (as set out within the report at 
appendix 1), the submitted application documents, suggested conditions and 
planning obligations it is considered that the development would be acceptable 
and in accordance with the adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (as amended). 
 
RESOLVED That Committee, 

 

A Granted delegated authority to the Assistant Director - 
Growth and Regeneration to conclude negotiations on and 
complete an agreement under section 106 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 so to secure the planning 
obligations outlined in this report; and 
 
 

B Subject to A, Approved the application subject to the 
condition(s) as outlined within the main report at appendix 
1 which are outlined below 

 
 

Page 7



Planning Committee 2 March 2021 

 

 

4 
 

Conditions / Reasons 
 

 
1 The development shall be started within three years of the date of this 

permission. 
 
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 
 

2 The development hereby approved shall only be carried out in 
accordance with the following drawings and documents. 
 
 

Location Plan  1671-08-02-820  
Finished Floor Levels  1671-08-02-822A  
Materials  1671-08-02-811A  
Site Plan  1671-08-02-800A  
Coloured Site Plan  1671-08-02-800A  
Street Scenes  1671-08-02-816A  
Sections  1671-08-02-817A  
Enclosures  1671-08-02-821A  
Floor Plans and 
Elevations  

House Types 
B18;C16;C20;C21;D1;D2;D3;E1;E2  

 

Reason: To define this permission 
 

3 Prior to the occupation of any permitted dwelling the parking and turning 
areas for that dwelling shall be provided. The parking and turning areas 
shall thereafter be retained at all times for their designated purposes.  
 
Reason: In the interests of Highway Safety as recommended by the 
Highway Authority in accordance with Policies EN5 and SU2 of the 
Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 
 

4 All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of 
landscaping and boundary treatment approved shall be carried out in the 
first planting and seeding season following the occupation of the buildings 
or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any 
trees or plants  
which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development 
die, are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be 
replaced in the next planting season with others of a similar size and 
species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any 
variation.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the setting and visual appearance of the 
development, and in accordance with Policy EN5 Tamworth Local Plan 
2006-2031. 
 

5 Notwithstanding the provisions of Class A of Schedule 2 Part 2 of the 

Page 8



Planning Committee 2 March 2021 

 

 

5 
 

Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 
2015 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order), no walls, fences or 
other means of enclosure shall be erected forward of the principal 
elevations of dwellings, or boundary walls or fences to those dwellings, 
except as authorised under the submitted application, without the prior 
grant of planning permission on an application made in that regard to the 
Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: In order to maintain the character of streets and public spaces as 
secured under the plans hereby approved in accordance with Policy EN5 
Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 
 

6 Notwithstanding the provisions of Class A,B,C,D and E of Schedule 2 Part 
1 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order), the garages 
indicated on the approved plans shall be retained for the parking of motor 
vehicles and cycles. They shall at no time be converted to living 
accommodation without the prior express permission of the Local 
Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: In the interests of Highway Safety as recommended by the 
Highway Authority in accordance with Policies EN5 and SU2 of the 
Tamworth Local Plan 2006-20 
 

(Moved by Councillor M Summers and seconded by Councillor M Oates) 
21.2 Sandy Way Application  
 
Application 
Number 
 

0428/2020 
 
 

Development 
 

Proposed construction of 4No. Employment units (one 
building) for use within use class E (industrial process) 
B2 (general industry) B8 (storage and distribution) and 
associated infrastructure 
 

Location 
 
 

Land off Sandy Way, Amington , Tamworth 

RESOLVED 
 

Approved subject to the conditions outlined below in 
accordance with the requirements outlined in the 
report.  
 

 
Conditions / Reasons 
 
1 The development shall be started within three years of the date of 

this permission. Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  
 

2 The development hereby approved shall only be carried out in 

Page 9



Planning Committee 2 March 2021 

 

 

6 
 

accordance with the application form, the supporting letter and 
drawing numbers:  
 
P401  Site Plan  
P400 Rev K  Proposed Site Plan  
P402  Site Location Plan  
P403 Rev D  Boundary Treatments Plan  
P404 Rev D  Surface Treatments  
P405 Rev D  Bins and Cycle Hoop Plan  
LL1127/001  Lighting Details  
P100 Rev B  Floor Plans and Elevations  
KL-469-001 Rev P2  Landscape Plan  

 
 
Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: To define the approval. 
 
 
CONDITIONS to be complied with PRIOR to the 
commencement of development hereby approved 
 
 

3 No development shall begin until the following elements of a surface 
water drainage design have been submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Lead Local Flood 
Authority. The design should be in accordance with the main 
principles within the Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy 
(ref: 62830, 16-09-20, PRK UK Ltd). The design must demonstrate:  
 

 Surface water drainage system(s) designed in accordance with 
the Non-technical standards for sustainable drainage systems 
(DEFRA, March 2015).  

 SuDS design to provide adequate water quality treatment, in 
accordance with the CIRIA SuDS Manual Simple Index Approach 
and SuDS treatment design criteria.  

 Detailed design (plans, network details and calculations) in 
support of any surface water drainage scheme, including details on 
any attenuation system, and the outfall arrangements. Calculations 
should demonstrate the performance of the designed system for a 
range of return periods and storm durations. Plans should be 
adequately labelled to enable comparison with the calculations (e.g. 
MH and pipe refs).  

 Plans illustrating flooded areas and flow paths in the event of 
exceedance of the drainage system. Plans to include FFLs, CLs, 
relevant GLs and flow arrows.  

 Provision of an acceptable management and maintenance plan 
for surface water drainage to ensure that surface water drainage 
systems shall be maintained and managed for the lifetime of the 
development. To include the name and contact details of the party 
responsible.  

Page 10



Planning Committee 2 March 2021 

 

 

7 
 

Reason: To reduce the risk of surface water flooding to the 
development and properties downstream for the lifetime of the 
development and to ensure adequate pollution control measures 
are in place 
.  
Prior to use/other CONDITIONS to be complied with: 
 

4 Prior to their incorporation in to the building(s) hereby approved, 
details and/or samples of the facing materials to be used shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall thereafter be constructed using 
the approved facing materials. Reason: In the visual interest of the 
building(s) and the surrounding area.  
 

5 The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use 
until the existing access to the site has been upgraded and 
constructed in accordance with the details as shown on submitted 
Drg. No.P400 Rev. K. The layout of the access shall be retained as 
such thereafter. Reason: To protect pedestrian and highway safety 
in accordance with Policy SU2 of the Local Plan.  
 

6 The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use 
until the parking, turning and servicing areas have been provided in 
accordance with the details as shown on submitted Drg. 
No.No.P400 Rev. K and the parking bays shall be clearly 
delineated. The parking, turning and servicing areas shall remain 
free from obstruction and shall be retained for their intended use 
thereafter. Reason: To protect pedestrian and highway safety in 
accordance with Policy SU2 of the Local Plan.  
 

7 The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use 
until the proposed cycle parking facilities as indicated on submitted 
Drg. No's. P400 Rev. K & P405 Rev. D have been installed. These 
facilities shall subsequently be retained thereafter. Reason: To 
encourage alternative, more sustainable modes of transport in 
accordance with Policy SU2 of the Local Plan.  
 
All other CONDITIONS to be complied with: 
 

8 The submitted Construction Management Plan hereby approved 
shall be adhered to for the duration of the construction phase of the 
developer hereby approved. Reason: To protect pedestrian and 
highway safety in accordance with Policy SU2 of the Local Plan.  
 

9 All approved biodiversity enhancements including planting, seeding 
or turfing comprised in the approved details of soft landscaping and 
biodiversity enhancements shall be carried out in the first planting 
and seeding seasons following the first occupation of the buildings 
or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; the 
biodiversity enhancements shall be retained as approved thereafter 
and any plants which within a period of five years (ten years in the 

Page 11



Planning Committee 2 March 2021 

 

 

8 
 

case of trees) from the completion of the phase die, are removed or 
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the 
next planting season with others of similar size and species and 
thereafter retained for at least the same period, unless the Local 
Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation. Reasons: 
In the interests of the setting and visual appearance of the 
development and to ensure biodiversity enhancements in 
compliance with policies EN4: Protecting and Enhancing 
Biodiversity and EN5: Design of New development as set out in the 
Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 and provisions of the NPPF.  
 

10 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015, as amended, or any 
order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification, the 4 new units hereby approved shall be used only for 
B2, B8 and E (Light Industrial) uses of the Town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) Order 2015, as amended, or any order 
revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification, 
and for no other purpose in Class E of the schedule to that Order. 
Reason: To protect highway safety and the vitality of Tamworth 
Town Centre in accordance with Policies EN5 and EC2 of the Local 
Plan respectively.  
 

11 No removal of trees, hedges and shrubs, shall take place between 
1st March and 31st August inclusive unless a survey to assess the 
nesting bird activity on the site during this period and a scheme to 
protect the nesting birds has first been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. No trees, hedges and 
shrubs shall be removed between 1st March and 31st August 
inclusive other than in accordance with the approved bird nesting 
protection scheme. Reason: To protect the health and wellbeing of 
biodiversity within the site in accordance with Policy EN4 of the 
Local Plan.  
 

12 Prior to the removal of any vegetation, any low‐growing plants 
should be searched by hand. Any piles of wood, brash and rubble 
within the working area must be dismantled by hand. Where it is not 
essential to remove potential hedgehog refuges in order to 
undertake the works, these must be left undisturbed. Reason: To 
protect the health and wellbeing of biodiversity within the site in 
accordance with Policy EN4 of the Local Plan.  
 

  

(Moved by Councillor P Standen and seconded by Councillor J Chesworth) 
  

 Chair  
 

 
 
 
 

Page 12



Planning Committee 2 March 2021 

 

 

9 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

 30
th

 March 2021 
 
 
 

APPLICATION FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

0012/2021 
 
 

REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR - GROWTH & REGENERATION 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4a



 
 
Application Number: 0012/2021 
 
Development:  Variation of condition 2 of planning permission 0409/2019: revised 

drawings and documents submitted relating to the repositioning of the 
haul road. 

 
Location:  DOSTHILL PRIMARY SCHOOL, High Street, Dosthill, TAMWORTH, B77 
1LQ 
  
 

 
 
1. Description of Proposal and Site 
 

 
1.1 This is an application to vary condition 2 (plans) of application reference 0409/2019 to allow for an 

amendment to the site to accommodate a revised position for part of the approved haul road. The 
original planning permission was for the demolition of 3No. timber classrooms and the erection of a 
single storey classroom block (providing 6No. classrooms) along with temporary permission for a 
haul road and the erection of 2.4m high fencing. This was heard by the planning committee on the 
23

rd
 June 2020 where it was resolved to approve the application subject to 15 conditions. The 

decision notice was issued on the 24
th
 June 2020. Two separate applications have subsequently 

been applied for to approve the conditions relating to the consent. Under reference 0296/2020 
approval was sought and granted for the discharge of conditions 3 (external materials), 4 
(construction management plan), 5 (contractor parking and compounds), 6 (drainage) and 12 
(dilapidation survey) and under reference 0451/2020 approval was sought for conditions 7 (site 
investigations) and 11 (site mitigation works), however this application was subsequently 
withdrawn.   
 

1.2 This variation of condition application has arisen to address issued that were raised by the Coal 
Authority during the approval of conditions application 0451/2020. Conditions 7 and 11 both related 
to historic coal mining legacy issues. During this application concerns were raised that the 
proposed haul road would cross over an existing mine shaft and that this would not be acceptable 
on safety grounds. To overcome this, it was suggested that the haul road would need to be re-
routed slightly to avoid crossing the shaft. The varied route of the haul road would however fall just 
outside of the red edge of the application site. To overcome this and so allow the development to 
proceed, this application seeks to extend the original application site slightly to accommodate the 
revised position of the haul road.  

 
1.3 Currently on site is the existing school building, Dosthill Primary Academy and associated buildings, 

open space, play grounds and car park. The existing school building has a Victorian element 
fronting High Street (Dosthill) and smaller buildings to the rear. 

 
1.4 The school is accessed via School Lane, also known as Pick Lane, to the north of the site, which is 

accessed from the main High Street, Dosthill. The immediate area mainly consists of residential 
dwellings, with a Co-op shop to the north of the site. The school is adjacent to a large area of public 
open space known as ‘The Broom’, which lies to the east and south of the site. There is a public 
right of way to the south east of the site.  

 
1.5 The site is located within a High Risk coal mining area and has a legacy of coal works on, and 

surrounding the site. 
 
 
2.0 Relevant Site History  
   

0409/2019 - Demolition of 3No. Timber Classrooms and Erection of Single Storey Classroom Block 
(6No. Classrooms), Temporary Permission for Haul Road and a Permanent 2.4m Boundary Fence – 
Approved  

 

Page 16



0296/2020 Discharge of conditions relating to planning permission 0409/2019: Condition 3 (external 
materials); Condition 4 (Construction Management Plan); Condition 5 (contractor parking and 
compounds); Condition 6 (drainage) and Condition 12 (Dilapidation survey) – Approved 

 
0451/2020 Discharge of conditions relating to planning permission 0409/2019: Condition 7 - site 
investigations (coal) and Condition 11 - site investigation mitigation works (ref. Condition 7 (coal)) – 
Withdrawn  

  
3.0 Policies  
 

Adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 
 

 SS1 - The Spatial Strategy for Tamworth 

 SS2 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

 EN3 – Open Space and Green and Blue Links 

 EN4 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity 

 EN5 – Design and New Development 

 SU2 - Delivering Sustainable Transport 

 SU4 – Flood Risk and Water Management 

 SU5 – Pollution, Ground Conditions and Minerals and Soils 

 SU6 – Community Facilities 

 SU7 – Sport and Recreation 

 Appendix C – Car Parking Standard 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) 

 
 
4.0 Consultation Responses 
 

Whilst every effort has been made to accurately summarise the responses received, full copies of 
the representations received are available to view at www.tamworth.gov.uk. 

 
4.1 Staffordshire County Council Highways 
 

No objection subject to conditions  
 
4.2 Staffordshire County Council Rights of Way  
 

Comments made and addressed. No objection  
 
4.3 Coal Authority  
 
 No objection  
 
4.4 Tamworth Borough Council – Tree Officer 
 

Comments made and addressed. No objection  
 
4.5 Tamworth Borough Council – Environmental Protection 
 
 
5.0 Additional Representations 

5.1 As part of the consultation process adjacent residents were notified and a press notice and site 
notices were erected. Whilst every effort has been made to accurately summarise the responses 
received, full copies of the representations received are available to view at www.tamworth.gov.uk. 
Three objections (from two separate addresses) have been received making the following points in 
respect of the application: 

 

 There need to be discussions in regards to impacts on gardens and fences  

Page 17

http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/
http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/


 There needs to be assurances that the haul road will be removed at the end of the 
development and the land re-instated  

 There will be impacts on on-street parking – there needs to be adequate parking for 
developers  

 The developer should work with the residents to agree hours of operation  

 What do we do if there is out of hour’s disruption?  

 How will noise, dust, vibration and disturbance be mitigated?  

 There appear to be trees missing from the plan  

 There are concerns about heavy machinery using the haul road and damaging nearby 
buildings and infrastructure  

 There will be increased noise, pollution and vibration  

 Traffic generation as a result of the proposal will increase – impacting on road safety  

 The land where the road is proposed is open space and the development will remove the 
ability for this to be enjoyed. 

 As a result of the development the risk of Covid -19 may increase  

 There will be additional impacts on privacy.  

 The electricity sub0station is nearby – what do we do if there are power cuts? And what will 
we do if there is an electricity supply issue? 

 The haul road will result in the removal of trees 

 There will be an increase in artificial light, causing light pollution  

 The development will likely adversely impact on people working from home.  
 
6.0 Equality Implications and Human Rights Implications 
 
6.1 Due regard, where relevant, has been taken to the Tamworth Borough Council’s equality duty as 

contained within the Equalities Act 2010. The authority has had due regard to the public sector 
equality duty (PSED).  Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, a public authority must in the 
exercised of its functions, have due regard to the interests and needs of those sharing the protected 
characteristics under the Act, such as age, gender, disability and race. This proposal would have no 
significant impact on such protected characteristics. 

 
6.2 There may be implications under Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the Human Rights 

Act, regarding the right of respect for a person’s private and family life and home, and to the 
peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  These issues have been taken into account in the 
determination of this application. 

 
7.0 Planning Considerations 
 
7.1 Taking into account the application made, the documents submitted (and supplemented and/or 

amended where relevant) and the site and its environs; the main issues central to the determination 
of this application are: 

 
 Principle of development  
 Coal Mining Legacy 
 Highway safety 
 Impact on neighbouring properties 
 Siting and Design of the proposed development;  
 Trees  
 Planning Conditions 
 

 
7.2 Principle 
 
7.2.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires all planning decisions to 

be made in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a material planning consideration. 
Both the Local Plan (LP) and the NPPF contain a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  
Policy SS2 (presumption in favour of sustainable development) of the LP makes reference to the 
presumption contained within para 11 of the NPPF, which states:- 

Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  
For decision-taking this means:  

Page 18



 
7.2.2 The principle of this development has already been established by the previous planning permission 

(0409/2019) and this report should be read in conjunction with that of the earlier application in which 
the in principle acceptability of the proposal is considered at depth.  

 
7.3 Coal Mining Legacy  
 
7.3.1 Policy SU5 of the LP requires that all new development consider site characteristics.. including land 

stability and that applications should be supported by an appropriate risk assessment where such 
issues are present, and para 170 e) of the NPPF seeks to ensure that new and existing 
development is not put at unacceptable risk from, or is adversely affected by … land instability.  

 
7.3.2  Coal mining legacy is a material planning consideration and the actual, or possible associated risks 

should be established. The application site falls within the Development High Risk Area, therefore, 
within the site and surrounding area there are coal mining features and hazards which need to be 
taken into account during the determination of the application.  

 
7.3.3 This variation of condition application specifically seeks to address issued raised by the Coal 

Authority in relation to the approval of conditions 7 and 11 on the original consent. The Coal 
Authority has been consulted on this application and is satisfied that the revised position of the haul 
road will address their concerns.  They have specifically commented that the revised haul road 
layout will allow for a safety area of 2m radius from the coordinates provided by the Coal Authority 
records (in relation to the location of the mine shaft) and that appropriate safety fencing has been 
illustrated to mitigate any risk during the use of the temporary road. 

 
7.3.4 Therefore, following guidance from the Coal Authority, the proposal is considered acceptable and in 

accordance with policy SU5 of the adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006 and the NPPF. 
 
7.4 Highway Safety  
 
7.4.1 Policy SU1 of the LP seeks to ease and improve the quality of access within the Borough through a 

range of policy criteria (a – i) of specific relevant to this application criterion i) requires improvements 
and traffic management measures as required to mitigate the impact of development traffic, with the 
Policy continuing to state that contributions towards infrastructure will be required where 
proportionate and necessary. In addition, Policy SU2 of the LP requires development to be 
accessible by walking, cycling, and public transport… and that planning permission should only be 
granted where development would ensure adequate highway safety, suitable access for all. The 
Policy continues that Planning Permission will be refused where travel to and from the development 
would be likely to cause harmful levels of pollution, highway safety or capacity issues. In regards to 
new roads, design advice is provided, in that they should result in a high quality public realm and 
finally a section on parking requirements is included, supplemented by Appendix C.  
 
The NPPF at para 108 states that:- in assessing sites that may be allocated for development in 
plans, or specific applications for development, it should be ensured that:  

 
a) appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be – or have been – taken 
up, given the type of development and its location;  

b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; and  
 

c) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of capacity and 
congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree.  

 

 
c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without 

delay; or  
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 

important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:  
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed6; or  
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 

when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.  
 

Page 19



And para 109 continues that:-  Development should only be prevented or refused on highways 
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative 
impacts on the road network would be severe.  

 
7.3.2 As part of the original application a temporary haul road was proposed to allow for the access and 

egress of construction vehicles during the building phase of the proposed classroom block. The haul 
road is proposed from Rosebery Road to the application site, following the eastern edge of The 
Broom, adjacent to properties on Sefton Road. The haul road would be one way only and would 
have a banksman at the entrance. 

 

7.3.3 The haul road is a temporary road for the sole use of construction and delivery vehicles. Condition 

13 of the original consent required that that the road is removed and the land re-instated once 
construction work had ceased. Revised vehicle tracking details, a hall road crossing plan and a 
construction management plan was also required under condition 4, to ensure the proposed road 
would not have a significant or detrimental impact upon highway safety and that impacts on 
residents would be mitigated as far as possible. The details within this application were 
subsequently approved (reference 0296/2020). 

 
7.3.4 This variation application seeks to slightly re-position the layout of the haul road along its section 

closest to Rosebery Road. 
 
7.3.5 The County Highways Authority (CHA) have been consulted on the application and have raised no 

objection subject to a condition that the revised plans be listed on the decision notice. Within their 
response they did however acknowledge that condition 4 of Planning permission 0409/2019 
required that “No development shall commence on the site until such time as a revised tracking 
manoeuvres for articulated lorry plan” and “revised proposed haul road crossover plan…has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The construction of the 
development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details and timetable. 
They continued that as part of the discharge of conditions application (0296/2020) the applicant 
detailed that the tracking is such that articulated vehicles would not in fact be able to enter and exit 
the site. In the circumstances, on the basis of the submitted plans, it was acceptable to the Highway 
Authority (HA) for the deliveries by articulated vehicles to be made from within the carriageway of 
the existing highway on Rosebery Road. 
 

7.3.6 The CHA  have confirmed that the applicant has clarified that articulated vehicles will still not enter 
the site, as per 0296/2020 and so on this basis have considered that the variation proposed would 
not result in any harmful impacts on either pedestrian or highway safety.  
 

7.3.7 As the temporary haul road would cross a Public Right of Way (PRoW), Staffordshire County 
Council Public Rights of Way have been consulted. They responded suggesting that the PRoW was 
not shown on the submitted plans in the context of the revised position of the haul road. This matter 
was discussed with the applicant who has identified the plan on which this detail is shown. On this 
basis the comments raised in this regards are considered to have been addressed.  

 
7.3.8 On the basis of the above, the development would therefore continue to be compliant with Policies 

EN5 and SU2 of the Local Plan and in this regard would be acceptable.  
 

7.4 Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties  
 
7.4.1 Criterion g of Policy EN5 of the LP seeks to minimise or mitigate environmental impacts for the 

benefits of the existing and future occupiers of adjacent land. Notable impacts identified include loss 
of light, privacy or security, unacceptable noise, pollution and flooding and a sense of enclosure and 
Criterion e of Para 170 of the NPPF states that LPA’s should:- prevent new and existing 
development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected 
by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability. Development should, 
wherever possible, help to improve local environmental conditions such as air and water quality, 
taking into account relevant information such as river basin management plans.  

 
7.4.2 Paragraph 180 of the NPPF outlines the need to consider the impact of noise resulting from new 

development on health, quality of life and areas of tranquillity.  
 

Page 20



7.4.3 Whilst the minor amendments proposed by this submission to the application site and the alignment 
of the haul road would re-site the initial section of the road closer to part of the rear boundary of 
No.34 Sefton Road, the changes are not considered to result in any further materially harmful 
impacts in terms of residential amenity. Conditions imposed on the original application to protect and 
limit the impacts on amenity will be re-imposed on this application. (The relevant conditions relate to 
the construction management plan and to ensure that the haul road is temporary).  

 
7.4.4 Subject to the suggested conditions the proposal would not have a harmful impact upon 

neighbouring properties and would be in accordance with policy EN5 of the adopted Tamworth Local 
Plan. 

 
7.5 Siting and Design of the proposed development 
 
7.5.1 An important consideration in determining the acceptability of the proposal are impacts of the 

proposed design on the character and appearance of the site and the surrounding area.  
 
7.5.2 The importance of design is highlighted in policy EN5 of the LP. This seeks to ensure that high 

quality buildings and places are achieved across Tamworth and includes specific criteria (a – j) to 
ensure such. The criteria seeks to specify requirements relating to architectural style, mass, layout 
and scale, materials and landscaping, the incorporation of active frontages and measures to aid 
legibility, minimise or mitigate environmental impacts, pay regard to highways safety and secure 
health benefits.  

 
7.5.3  Furthermore, para 124 of the NPPF sets out that: - The creation of high quality buildings and places 

is fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve. Good design is a key 
aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make 
development acceptable to communities.  

 
7.5.4  The changes proposed to the application would be minor in scale and would not therefore result in 

any material impacts on the design of the scheme or in terms of character and appearance over and 
above those that were originally considered and deemed acceptable.   

 
7.5.5 The proposal would therefore be in accordance with policy EN5 of the Local Plan.  

 
7.6 Original Planning Conditions    
 
7.6.1  Planning permission ref: 0409/2019 was subject to 15 conditions, one of which (condition 2 - plans) 

is subject to variation under this application.  
 
7.6.2 Two applications have been submitted for the approval of conditions on the original consent. Under 

reference 0296/2020 approval was sought and granted for the discharge of conditions 3 (external 
materials), 4 (construction management plan), 5 (contractor parking and compounds), 6 (drainage) 
and 12 (dilapidation survey). Under reference 0451/2020 approval was sought for conditions 7 (site 
investigations) and 11 (site mitigation works), however this application was subsequently withdrawn.  
  

7.6.3 As a result of this submission some of the originally imposed conditions are no longer necessary, 
whilst the wording of others needs to be updated to reflect the approved documentation.  

 
The full break-down is as follows:- 

 
Condition 1 - Time - remains the same and shall be carried forward 
Condition 2 - Plans - is hereby varied 
Condition 3 - Materials – shall be amended to reflect the approved details.  
Condition 4 – Construction Management Plan – shall be amended to reflect the approved details  
Condition 5 – Contractor parking compounds - shall be amended to reflect the approved details 
Condition 6 – Drainage – shall be amended to reflect the approved details  
Condition 7 – Site investigations – no longer necessary. Investigations were undertaken and this 
variation application seeks to address the issues raised. The Coal Authority have not requested that 
any conditions be re-imposed on this application.   
Condition 8 – Routing of construction vehicles – shall be re-imposed  
Condition 9 – Prevention of material entering the highway – shall be re-imposed 
Condition 10 – Access arrangements – shall be amended to reflect the amended plan 

Page 21



Condition 11 – remediation/mitigation scheme (relating to condition 7) to be removed as no longer 
necessary.  
Condition 12 – Dilapidation survey – shall be amended to reflect the approved details  
Condition 13 – Re-instatement of land etc. - shall be re-imposed  
Condition 14 – Removal of concrete structures – shall be re-imposed  
Condition 15 – Community use agreement - shall be re-imposed 

 
7.7 Other considerations  

 
7.7.1 The Tree Officer originally commented that the details of the root protection area for trees with roots 

going under the haul road could not be identified and that some of trees on the boundary of the park 
were not shown on the plans. The agent has confirmed that these details have previously been 
submitted and approved under the original application. It has further been confirmed that no trees 
will be removed as part of the development.  In relation to comments referencing trees on the 
boundary of the park, this area is not impacted on by the variations subject of this application and 
are therefore not a relevant consideration at this stage. The originally approved plans and details not 
subject to this proposed variation will be reiterated on the decision notice.  On the original 
application the Tree Officer responded with no objection to the proposal and that the method 
statement and tree protection plan were considered appropriate. Therefore, the proposal is in 
accordance with policy EN4 of the adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 
 

7.7.2 The issues raised within the letters of representation, not addresses elsewhere in the report will be  
considered below:- 

 
It has been requested that there needs to be discussions in regards to impacts on gardens and 
fences – this is private matter which needs to be addressed between the developer and the affected 
property owners. It is not a material planning consideration.  
 
It has been stated that there needs to be assurances that the haul road will be removed at the end 
of the development and the land re-instated – this issue is addressed by the planning conditions 
imposed.  
  
It has been stated that there will be impacts on on-street parking – there needs to be adequate 
parking form developers – this matter was appraised within the consideration of the original 
application and the amendment proposed under this application would result in no further issues in 
this regard. Notwithstanding this however, a condition is imposed to address these matters.  
  
The developer should work with the residents to agree hours of operation –this is a private matter to 
be agreed between the developer and the residents.  
 
What do we do if there is out of hour’s disruption?  - This is not a material planning consideration 
and should initially be addressed with the site manager or the Council’s Environmental Protection 
department.  
 
How will noise, dust, vibration and disturbance be mitigated?  - this is set out within the conditioned 
Construction Management Statement  
 
There appear to be trees missing from the plan – This matter has been raised with the developer 
who has confirmed that all works/surveys relating to the trees were agreed as part of the original 
application. It has been further confirmed that no trees are to be removed as part of the 
development.   

 
There are concerns about heavy machinery using the haul road and damaging nearby buildings and 
infrastructure – This is not a material planning consideration and should such occur, it would be a 
private matter between the developer and persons affected.  
 
There will be increased noise, pollution and vibration – as a result of the minor changes proposed by 
this application, there would be no further harmful impacts caused in relation to the above over and 
above those which were raised and considered acceptable during the consideration of the original 
application.  
  

Page 22



Traffic generation as a result of the proposal will increase – impacting on road safety – the 
amendments proposed by this application will result in no materially harmful impacts in terms of 
highway safety. 
  
The land where the road is proposed is open space and the development will remove the ability for 
this to be enjoyed – this matter was considered comprehensively during the determination of the 
original application, and no overriding harm was raised in relation to this. The amendments 
proposed by this application would not result in any further impacts in this regard.  
 
As a result of the development the risk of Covid -19 may increase – this is not a material planning 
consideration.   
 
There will be additional impacts on privacy – this has been addressed in the main body of the report.  
The electricity substation is nearby – what do we do if there are power cuts? And what will we do if 
there is an electricity supply issue? – this is not a material planning consideration, but is a private 
matter which should be taken up with the appropriate bodies/relevant people should such occur.  
 
The haul road will result in the removal of trees – it has been confirmed that no trees will be 
removed as a result of the development.  
 
There will be an increase in artificial light, causing light pollution – There is no evidence that this will 
occur and no objections/concerns have been raised by Environmental Protection in this regard.  
 
The development will likely adversely impact on people working from home – this is not a material 
planning consideration. Residential amenity impacts have however been considered and have been 
found acceptable.  

 
 
8.1 Conclusion 

 
The principle of this development has already been established through the earlier grant of planning 
permission (ref: 0409/2019). The variations proposed have arisen principally to address concerns 
raised by the Coal Authority relating to the developments impact (and associated safety concerns) 
on an existing mine shaft. The amendments have addressed the concerns raised and overall, by 
virtue of the scale and nature of the proposed changes, there would be no further significant material 
impacts upon highway safety, residential amenity or design, character or appearance. Furthermore, 
there are no other relevant material planning considerations that indicate planning permission 
should not be granted. The proposal is considered to accord with relevant guidance and policy 
provided by the National Planning Policy Framework and the adopted Tamworth Local Plan. 
Accordingly it is recommended that planning permission be granted, subject to the imposition of the 
previous planning conditions, which have been amended, removed or re-worded, where applicable. 

 
9.0 Recommendation  
 
 

1. Approval subject to the conditions outlined below in accordance with the requirements 
outlined in this report.  

 

 
 

Conditions / Reasons 
  

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
24.06.2020 the date of the original permission (Ref: 0409/2019). Reason: To comply with Section 91 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  

 
2. The development hereby approved shall only be carried out in accordance with the application form, 

the supporting letters/reports and drawing numbers: 

 
SK191129.01 P01 
DPS-STL-XX-00-DR-A-X-9000 Rev. P08 

Page 23



DPS-STL-00-ZZ-DR-A-X-0910 Rev. P04 
DPS-STL-XX-XX-DR-A-XXXX-X002 Rev. P03 
DPS-STL-XX-XX-DR-A-XXXX-X003 Rev. P03 
DPS-STL-XX-00-DR-A-XXXX-0920 Rev. P02 
Site Location plan (Drawing No. 1901 Rev. C02) 
DPS-CAL-00-XX-DR-C-200 Rev. P04 
Proposed Haul Road Site Plan (Drawing No. 200 Rev. P08) 
Proposed haul road crossover (Drawing No. 201 Rev. P08) 
DPS-CAL-00-XX-DR-C-202-P04_S4_Proposed Haul Road 
DPS-CAL-00-XX-DR-C-203-P04_S4_Proposed Haul Road 
DPS-CAL-00-XX-DR-C-204-P01_S4_Proposed Haul Road 
 

            Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Reason: To define the approval. 
 

3. The development shall be constructed/finished in accordance with the materials as set out in the 
‘Dosthill Primary School - External Materials Schedule August 2020’ Reason: In the visual interest of 
the building(s) and the surrounding area. 

 
4. The development shall be adhere to the requirements and details as set out within the Construction 

Management Plan Report No. ‘Dosthill B2203-MID-00-DRH-0001,Rev00 12-08-2020, Articulated 
Lorry Drawing No. 207 Rev P04 and the storage compound and vehicle parking facilities as shown 
on Drw Nos. DPS-STL-XX-XX-DR-AXXXX-X002Rev P03 and X003 Rev P03. Reason: To reduce 
the possibility of deleterious material (mud, stones etc.) being deposited in the highway and 
becoming a hazard for road users, to ensure that construction traffic does not use unsatisfactory 
roads and lead to on-street parking problems in the area and in the interests of residential amenity 
in accordance with NPPF 2019 and to comply with policies EN5 and SU2 of the adopted Tamworth 
Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
5. No development, including demolition, shall commence until the contractor vehicle parking and 

contractors compound areas have been provided in accordance with the Section One Drawing (No. 
DPS -STL-XX-XX-DR-A-XXXX-X002 Rev. P03) and the Section Two Drawing (No. DPS-STL-XX-
XX-DR-AXXXX-X003 Rev. P03), for the relevant phase. Reason: To ensure that construction traffic 
does not lead to on-street parking problems in the area in accordance with NPPF 2019 and to 
comply with policies EN5 and SU2 of the adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031.  
 

6. The development shall be constructed in accordance with the ‘Proposed drainage and external 
layout’ Drawing No. DPS CAL 00XX DR C100 Rev p04 and 010 P02. The scheme shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details before the development is first brought into 
use. Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with a satisfactory means of drainage as 
well as to prevent or to avoid exacerbating any flooding issues and to minimise the risk of pollution 
and to comply with policy SU4 of the adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
7. During the periods of demolition and construction, all Heavy Goods Vehicle construction traffic shall 

use the routeing detailed on the Construction Vehicle Movements Drawing (No. DPS-STL-00-ZZ-
DR-AX-0910 Rev. P04) at all times, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Reason: To ensure that construction traffic does not use unsatisfactory roads in 
accordance with NPPF 2019 and to comply with policies EN5 and SU2 of the adopted Tamworth 
Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
8. The measures to prevent the deposition of deleterious material onto the highway set out on pages 8, 

9 and 10 of the revised Construction Management Statement (dated 12/08/2020) shall be adhered 
to throughout the demolition and construction periods. Reason: To reduce the possibility of 
deleterious material (mud, stones, etc.) being deposited in the highway and becoming a hazard for 
road users in accordance with NPPF 2019 and to comply with policies EN5 and SU2 of the adopted 
Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
9. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until such time as the access 

arrangements shown on the Proposed haul road crossover drawing (No. DPS-CAL-00-XX-DR-C-201 
Rev. P08) have been implemented in full. Within one month of the completion of the construction 
phase, the footway and full height kerb shall be reinstated in accordance with details first submitted 
to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Reason: To ensure that vehicles entering 
and leaving the site may pass each other clear of the highway, in a slow and controlled manner, in 

Page 24



the interests of general highway safety and in accordance with paragraph 108 of the NPPF 2019 
and to comply with policies EN5 and SU2 of the adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
10. The development shall adhere to the requirements and details as set out within the report ref 

‘0409/2019 – Dosthill Primary Academy Dilapidation Survey for Access Road’. Reason: To protect 
the visual amenity of the area, and to comply with policies EN4 and EN5 of the adopted Tamworth 
Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
11. Within 2 months of the demolition of the three existing timber classroom blocks, the playing field 

should be reinstated to useable playing field; this includes the removal of the haul road, the site 
compound area, the spoil area and the temporary fencing. The land on which the temporary haul 
road was situated will be returned to the state it was in prior to the commencement of works, as 
evidenced in the report and photographic evidence submitted in condition 10. If any required 
planting, seeding or turfing which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development 
dies, is removed, or becomes seriously damaged or diseased, this shall be replaced in the next 
planting season with other of a similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives 
written consent to any variation. Reason: To comply with policies EN3 and SU7 of the adopted 
Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
12. Prior to occupation of the new classroom block, the five concrete structures as indicated on plan 

SK191129.01 P01 are to be removed. Reason: To comply with policies EN3 and SU7 of the 
adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
13. Prior to occupation of the new classroom block, a Community Use Agreement for the school playing 

field and ancillary facilities will be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Reason: To comply with policies EN3, SU6 and SU7 of the adopted Tamworth Local Plan 
2006-2031. 
 

INFORMATIVE NOTES: 
 
1.  Tree Protection Order (TPO) 

It should be noted that there are Tree Preservation Orders on the site, TPO No.1 2018 and TPO No. 
9 2019 which should be maintained in perpetuity unless formal written consent from the Local 
Planning Authority is gained. 

2.  Highways 

The conditions requiring off-site highway works shall require a Highway Works Agreement with 
Staffordshire County Council (SCC). The Applicant is requested to contact SCC in order to secure 
the Agreement. The link below is to the Highway Works Information Pack and an application form 
for the Agreement. Please complete and send to the address indicated on the application form 
which is Staffordshire County Council at Network Management Unit, Staffordshire Place 1, 
Wedgwood Building, Tipping Street, STAFFORD, Staffordshire ST16 2DH (or email to 
nmu@staffordshire.gov.uk). The Applicant is advised to begin this process well in advance of any 
works taking place in order to meet any potential timescales. 

https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/transport/staffshighways/ 

Highwayscontrol/highwaysworkagreements.aspx 

3.  Waste Storage 

If the new classroom block requires new bins, that waste is securely contained in suitable and 
sufficient containers which cannot be vandalised, kicked over or interfered with and transferred to a 
suitable licenced person for transport and disposal. Provision must also be made to remove 
recycling material from their Waste. 

 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

30
th

 March 2021 
 
 
 

APPLICATION FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

0105/2021 
 
 

REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR - GROWTH & REGENERATION 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 4b



 
 
Application Number:  0105/2021 
 
Development:  Variation of conditions relating to approved planning permission ref. 

0323/2019 - condition 2 (approved plans) and condition 6 (onsite parking 
provision) 

 
Location:  4 and 6 Woodhouse Lane, Amington, TAMWORTH, B77 3AE 

 

 
 
1. Description of Proposal and Site 
 

 
1.1 This is an application to vary condition 2 (plans) of application reference 0323/2019 to allow for an 

amendment to the approved parking layout. The application proposes to move 5 off street parking 
spaces from the adjacent land (which did not form part of the application site, but did comprise land 
owned by the applicant) to within the application site, adjacent to the new dwellings they would 
serve. The original application was heard by the planning committee on the 3

rd
 December 2019, 

where it was resolved to approve the application subject to 11 conditions and a S106 legal 
agreement. The decision notice was issued on the 9

th
 April 2020. Two separate applications have 

subsequently been applied for to approve the conditions relating to the consent. Under reference 
0073/2020 approval was sought and granted for the discharge of conditions 3 (CMP), 4 (Drainage 
Details), 5 (Materials), and under reference 0170/2020 approval was sought and granted for 
condition 10 (Dust Suppression). 
 

1.2 The reconfiguration and amendment to the proposed parking layout has arisen due to an alternative 
solution being developed in relation to fire protection measure on the site (the installation of fire 
misting systems). Originally fire engine access was required to the site, which would have resulted 
in engineering works. These works would have hampered the sites ability to achieve the parking 
requirements on site and so a suitable solution for off-site provision was agreed. The 5 parking 
spaces that were previously to be delivered on the adjacent land would now be delivered on the 
application site. This variation would also negate the need for a legal agreement, previously 
necessary to secure the provision.   

 
1.3 The approved housing scheme (0323/2019) is currently being delivered and is nearing completion. 

 
 
2.0 Relevant Site History  
   

0323/2019 - Demolition of 4 and 6 Woodhouse Lane. Construction of 12 self-contained flats for 
social rent – Approved  

 
0073/2020 – Discharge of conditions relating to planning permission 0323/2019: condition 3 
(Construction Traffic Management Plan), condition 4 (drainage) and condition 5 (materials) – 
Approved 

 
0170/2020 – Discharge of condition 10 (Dust Control) of planning permission 0323/2019 – Approved  

  
3.0 Policies  
 

Adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 
 

 SS1 - The Spatial Strategy for Tamworth 

 SS2 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

 EN4 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity 

 EN5 – Design and New Development 

 SU2 - Delivering Sustainable Transport 

 SU4 – Flood Risk and Water Management 

 SU5 – Pollution, Ground Conditions and Minerals and Soils 

Page 28



 Appendix C – Car Parking Standard 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) 

 
 
4.0 Consultation Responses 
 

Whilst every effort has been made to accurately summarise the responses received, full copies of 
the representations received are available to view at www.tamworth.gov.uk. 

 
4.1 Staffordshire County Council Highways 
 

No objection subject to conditions. They have commented that the proposed parking spaces (as 
detailed within the site layout) should be provided prior to occupation. Highways have acknowledged 
that the proposed parking layout would represent an improvement over the previously approved 
application and as such is deemed to be acceptable. 

 

 
4.2 Staffordshire County Council Rights of Way  
 

Comments made and addressed. No objection  
 
4.3 Coal Authority  
 
 No objection  
 
4.4 Tamworth Borough Council – Tree Officer 
 

Comments made and addressed. No objection  
 
4.5 Tamworth Borough Council – Environmental Protection 
 

No objection  
 
 
5.0 Additional Representations 

5.1 As part of the consultation process adjacent residents were notified and a press notice and site 
notices were erected. Whilst every effort has been made to accurately summarise the responses 
received, full copies of the representations received are available to view at www.tamworth.gov.uk. 

 
 No objections have been received in respect of the application. 

 
6.0 Equality Implications and Human Rights Implications 
 
6.1 Due regard, where relevant, has been taken to the Tamworth Borough Council’s equality duty as 

contained within the Equalities Act 2010. The authority has had due regard to the public sector 
equality duty (PSED).  Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, a public authority must in the 
exercised of its functions, have due regard to the interests and needs of those sharing the protected 
characteristics under the Act, such as age, gender, disability and race. This proposal would have no 
significant impact on such protected characteristics. 

 
6.2 There may be implications under Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the Human Rights 

Act, regarding the right of respect for a person’s private and family life and home, and to the 
peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  These issues have been taken into account in the 
determination of this application. 

 
7.0 Planning Considerations 
 

Page 29

http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/
http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/


7.1 Taking into account the application made, the documents submitted (and supplemented and/or 
amended where relevant) and the site and its environs; the main issues central to the determination 
of this application are: 

 
 Principle 

 Highway Safety 

 Planning Conditions 
 

 
7.2 Principle 
 
7.2.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires all planning decisions to 

be made in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a material planning consideration. 
Both the Local Plan (LP) and the NPPF contain a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  
Policy SS2 (presumption in favour of sustainable development) of the LP makes reference to the 
presumption contained within para 11 of the NPPF, which states:- 

 
7.2.2 The principle of this development has already been established by the previous planning permission 

(0323/2019) and this report should be read in conjunction with that of the earlier application in which 
the principle acceptability of the proposal is considered at depth.  

 
7.3 Highway Safety  
 
7.3.1 Policy SU1 of the LP seeks to ease and improve the quality of access within the Borough through a 

range of policy criteria (a – i) of specific relevant to this application criterion i) requires improvements 
and traffic management measures as required to mitigate the impact of development traffic, with the 
Policy continuing to state that contributions towards infrastructure will be required where 
proportionate and necessary. In addition, Policy SU2 of the LP requires development to be 
accessible by walking, cycling, and public transport… and that planning permission should only be 
granted where development would ensure adequate highway safety, suitable access for all. The 
Policy continues that Planning Permission will be refused where travel to and from the development 
would be likely to cause harmful levels of pollution, highway safety or capacity issues. In regards to 
new roads, design advice is provided, in that they should result in a high quality public realm and 
finally a section on parking requirements is included, supplemented by Appendix C.  
 
The NPPF at para 108 states that:- in assessing sites that may be allocated for development in 
plans, or specific applications for development, it should be ensured that:  

 
a) appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be – or have been – taken 
up, given the type of development and its location;  

b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; and  
 

c) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of capacity and 
congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree.  

 
And para 109 continues that:-  Development should only be prevented or refused on highways 
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative 
impacts on the road network would be severe.  

Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  
For decision-taking this means:  
 
c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without 

delay; or  
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 

important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:  
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed6; or  
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 

when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.  
 

Page 30



 
7.3.2 As part of the original application the off street parking for the dwellings was to be provided on the 

adjacent land. This land was owned by the applicant, but did not form part of the application site. 
The application was originally assessed by the highways authority on the basis that it would provide 
assisted living accommodation, and it was evidenced throughout the application process that the 
proposed residents would not have access to vehicles. Parking provision was however considered 
to be necessary in the event that the accommodation was sold on the open market. To secure the 
parking provision on the adjacent land, the application was subject to a legal agreement.   

 
7.3.4 The proposed amendment represents an improved situation in that it would result in a more usable 

and accessible parking layout and the highways authority have raised no objection on this basis 
(subject to a condition to secure parking provision).  

 
7.3.5 On the basis of the above, the development would therefore continue to be compliant with Policies 

EN5 and SU2 of the Local Plan and in this regard would be acceptable.  
 
7.4 Original Planning Conditions    
 
7.4.1 Planning permission ref: 0323/2019 was subject to 11 conditions, one of which (condition 2 - plans) 

is subject to variation under this application.  
 

7.4.2 Two separate applications have subsequently been applied for to approve the conditions relating to 
the consent. Under reference 0073/2020 approval was sought and granted for the discharge of 
conditions 3 (CMP), 4 (Drainage Details), 5 (Materials), and under reference 0170/2020 approval 
was sought for conditions 10 (Dust Suppression), both of which have now been discharged.   
  

7.4.3 As a result of this submission some of the originally imposed conditions are no longer necessary, 
whilst the wording of others needs to be updated to reflect the approved documentation.  

 
The full break-down is as follows:- 

 
Condition 1 - Time – no longer necessary as the development is nearing completion.  
Condition 2 - Plans - is hereby varied 
Condition 3 - CMP – Discharged, so will be re-worded to reflect the approved details.  
Condition 4 – Drainage Plans – Discharged, so will be re-worded to reflect the approved details. 
Condition 5 – Materials – Discharged, so will be re-worded to reflect the approved details. 
Condition 6 –Parking Provision – shall be re-imposed  
Condition 7 – Parking Spaces Marked Out – shall be re-imposed 
Condition 8 – Gates and Barriers – shall be re-imposed  
Condition 9 – Construction Hours – shall be re-imposed 
Condition 10 – Dust Suppression – Discharged, so will be re-worded to reflect the approved details. 
Condition 11 – Landscaping Details – shall be re-imposed 

 
7.5 Other considerations  

 
7.5.1 The proposed relocation of the 5 car parking spaces from the main car park area to adjacent to the 

new dwellings along Woodhouse Lane would not generate any significant harm to the amenity of 
surrounding properties. The proposed location of the 5 new spaces is in a location where there was 
previously an existing access and off street parking for a number of vehicles. As such the proposed 
parking in this location would not result in any additional harm over and above the approved 
situation. The amendments considered under this application would therefore in accordance with 
policy EN5 of the adopted Tamworth Local Plan. 

 
7.5.2 The changes proposed to the application would be minor in scale and would not therefore result in 

any material impacts on the design of the scheme or in terms of character and appearance. The 
proposal would therefore be in accordance with policy EN5 of the Local Plan in this regard.  

 
7.5.3 The Tree Officer originally commented that the details of the root protection area for trees with roots 

adjacent to the proposed new buildings. A detailed landscaping plan and root protection plan have 
previously been submitted and approved under the original application. The originally approved 
plans and details not subject to this proposed variation will be reiterated on the decision notice.  On 
the original application the Tree Officer responded with no objection to the proposal and that the 

Page 31



method statement and tree protection plan were considered appropriate. Therefore, the proposal is 
in accordance with policy EN4 of the adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
8.0 Conclusion 

 
8.1 The principle of this development has already been established through the earlier grant of planning 

permission (ref: 0323/2019). The variations proposed have arisen due to an alteration in the 
required location for fire engines and there no longer being a need to re-engineer the car park, and 
as such there would be the relocation of 5 off street parking spaces. The amendments, by virtue of 
the scale and nature of the proposed changes, there would be no further significant material impacts 
upon highway safety, residential amenity or design, character or appearance. Furthermore, there 
are no other relevant material planning considerations that indicate planning permission should not 
be granted. The proposal is considered to accord with relevant guidance and policy provided by the 
National Planning Policy Framework and the adopted Tamworth Local Plan. Accordingly it is 
recommended that planning permission be granted, subject to the imposition of the previous 
planning conditions, which have been amended, removed or re-worded, where applicable. 

 
9.0 Recommendation  
 
 

1. Approval subject to the conditions outlined below in accordance with the requirements 
outlined in this report.  

 

 
 

Conditions / Reasons 
 

 1. The development hereby approved shall only be carried out in accordance with the 
application form, the supporting letter and drawing numbers D11 Revision E, D21, D22, 
D24, D25, D20, D23, THL-0778-3, THL-0778-2 and D14 Revision A unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Reason: For the avoidance of doubt 
and to define the approval. 

2. The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the details approved in 
the (Site and Traffic Management Plan – Issue 1) and associated timetable of works. 
REASON: To reduce the possibility of deleterious material (mud, stones etc.) being 
deposited in the highway and becoming a hazard for road users, to ensure that 
construction traffic does not use unsatisfactory roads and lead to on-street parking 
problems in the area. 

3. The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the details approved in 
the Sustainable Drainage Assessment, Operation and Maintenance Plan (March 2020). 
REASON: To reduce the risk of surface water flooding and pollution to the development 
and properties downstream for the lifetime of the development in accordance with 
Policy SU4 of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

4. The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the details approved in 
the 71175 Materials Schedule (15/04/2020). Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external 
appearance to the development in accordance with policy EN5: Design of New 
Development set out in the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 5. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until such time as the car 
parking spaces have been laid out and implemented in accordance with the Site Layout 
Plan (Drawing No. D11 Revision E) thereafter the onsite parking provision shall be so 
maintained in perpetuity. REASON: To ensure that adequate off-street parking provision 
is made to reduce the possibility of the proposed development leading to on-street 
parking problems locally and to enable vehicles to enter and leave the site in a forward 
direction in the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Paragraph 108 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework February 2019. 

 6. No dwelling shall be occupied until the parking spaces approved by the Local Planning 
Authority have been provided and marked out. Reason: To ensure that adequate 

Page 32



provision is made for the parking of vehicles clear of the highway in the interests of 
highway safety and in accordance policy SU2 and Appendix C of the Tamworth Local 
Plan 2006-2031. 

 7. Any vehicular access gates, barriers, bollards, chains or other such obstructions that 
are erected to the car park should be kept fully open at all times when the site is open to 
staff, residents or visitors. REASON: To enable a vehicle to stand clear of the highway 
in order to protect the free and safe passage of traffic including pedestrians in the public 
highway in accordance with Paragraph 32 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
2012. 

 8. No construction site machinery or plant shall be operated, no process shall be carried 
out and no construction related deliveries taken at or dispatched from the site except 
between the hours of 08:00 -17:00hrs Monday to Saturday and not at any time on 
Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays. Reason: To protect the amenity of the locality, 
especially for people living and/or working nearby, in accordance with local planning 
policy and in accordance with the provisions of Circular 11/95. 

9. The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the details approved in 
the Dust Suppression Plan (29/04/2020). Reason: To protect the amenity of the locality, 
especially for people living and/or working nearby, in accordance with local planning 
policy 

 10. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be 
carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the occupation of the 
buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees 
or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, 
are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next 
planting season with others of a similar size and species, unless the Local Planning 
Authority gives written consent to any variation. Reason: In the interests of the setting 
and visual appearance of the development, and in compliance with policies EN4: 
Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and EN5: Design of New development as set out 
in the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

  

This permission does not grant any other approval other than under Section 57 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

 

 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
 30th March 2021 

 
 

APPLICATION FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

0501/2020 
 
 

REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR - GROWTH & REGENERATION 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 4c



 
 
Application Number: 0501/2020   
 
Development:  Subdivision of the existing retail unit to create two units and to allow the sale of food 

from both units, alterations to the external appearance of the building and 
the existing car park, provision of a new service yard, and the erection of 
a restaurant and drive thru facility and associated landscaping works.   

 
Location: Former John Lewis Store, Ventura Park  

 

 
 

 
1. Site and Surroundings 
 
1.1 The application site comprises of the former John Lewis retail store site. The site is host to 

a large rectangular building with associated car park and access, along with a service yard 
to the south. The access road to the service yard runs along the western edge of the site 
and backs onto the Plastics Omnium building, which fronts onto Winchester Road. The site 
lies to the north of the A5 (Wilnecote Bypass).  To the front of the building is a large 
surfaced parking area and to the northern side is a further parking area (historically 
designated for employees).  The parking area is surrounded by access roads linking the 
site to the other retail facilities within the area. These include the Jolly Sailor Retail Park to 
the north, the Cardinal Point Retail Park to the northwest and Ventura Retail Park to the 
east.   
 

1.2 The site is accessed off Ventura Park Road and has two separate access points, one 
originally for customers and the other reserved for servicing and staff.  The site is visible 
from the Ventura Retail Park roundabout.  The site is also served by multiple bus routes, 
providing direct connections to Tamworth Town Centre. 

 
1.3 The site is situated within an established out of Town retail area being host to B&Q, 

Sainsbury’s, Asda, Next and Next Home, Curry’s PC World, Sports Direct, Marks and 
Spencer, McDonald’s Drive Thru and a Nando’s restaurant (among others). The 
surrounding area also includes a large number of car garages/showrooms including 
Volkswagen, Toyota and Audi, along with large industrial and commercial developments. 

 
1.4 The site is not within a conservation area nor is the building listed, however the site does 

fall within Flood Zone 3, but benefits from flood defences. 
 
2.  Proposal 
 
2.1 This planning application seeks permission to subdivide the former John Lewis retail unit 

into two units of 1,950sqm and 3,350sqm respectively for the purpose of food and non-food 
retail sales. The proposal also includes external alterations to the building, to provide two 
entrances, along with alterations to the car park to facilitate a new service yard, and the 
erection of a new 204sqm restaurant with drive thru facility. This facility would include eight 
waiting spaces for cars (to the rear of the building).  

 
2.2 Aside from the floor space provided by the proposed restaurant with drive thru, the 

proposal would not result in the creation of new retail floor space; to clarify, the application 
is seeking consent for the subdivision of the existing retail unit to allow the end users to sell 
food and non-food related retail goods.  
 

2.3 The proposed opening hours for the unit would be 05:00 – 23:00 seven days a week and 
staff would be in the store approximately 30 minutes prior to opening and 30 minutes after 
closure.  

Page 36



 
2.4 Throughout the course of this application, dialogue has been held with the applicant to 

secure more comprehensive details in regards to the Impact Assessment and Sequential 
Test. The additional information provided has focused on the potential impact of the 
proposed development on the Town Centre and the detailed assessment of alternative 
locations within the borough, and why these are not suitable. The agent has also provided 
additional justifciation relating to the subdivision of the units. The updated information has 
been duly considered in the decision making process.   

 

3.  Relevant Policies 
 
3.1 Local Policy  

 
Adopted Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031  

 
SS1 - The Spatial Strategy for Tamworth 
SS2 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
EC1 - Hierarchy of Centres for Town Centre Uses 
EC2 - Supporting Investment in Tamworth Town Centre 
EC6 – Sustainable Economic Growth  
EN4 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity 
EN5 – Design and New Development 
SU1 - Sustainable Transport Network 
SU2 – Delivering Sustainable Transport 
SU3 – Climate Change Mitigation  
SU4 - Flood Risk and Water Management 
IM1 – Infrastructure and Developer Contributions 
Appendix C – Car Parking Standard 

 
3.2 National Policy and Guidance  
 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (as amended) 2019 
 
Chapter 2 – Achieving Sustainable Development  
Chapter 4 – Decision-making 
Chapter 6 – Building a strong, competitive economy  
Chapter 7 - Ensuring the vitality of town centres 
Chapter 9 – Promoting sustainable transport  
Chapter 11 – Making effective use of land 
Chapter 12 – Achieving well-designed places 
Chapter 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and costal change 
Chapter 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment  

 
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 
 
Other Guidance/Legislation 
 

None Relevant  
 

4.  Relevant Site History 
 

4.1 Outline planning permission was granted (at appeal) in March 2006 (LPA ref. 0070/2002 
and appeal ref. APP/Z3445/A/04/1153751) for the erection of a retail unit measuring 
approximately 5,477sqm (GIA) with approximately 900sqm outside area.  The reserved 
matters application (LPA ref. 0476/2008) was subsequently approved in January 2009.  A 
non-material amendment application was then granted in May 2011 (LPA ref. 0152/2011) 

Page 37



for amendments to the outside area, including the relocation of the sprinkler tank and also 
clarification of the external retail floor area. 

Condition 12 of the original consent stated:- 

“Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use 

Classes) Order 1987 and the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) Order 1995 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting these Orders 

with or without modifications) the premises shall not be used for any purpose 

other than the retail sale of non-food goods, DIY and associated garden 

products, and uses ancillary to the primary use of the site for A1 retailing, 

where such ancillary uses may include a store for retail goods, the office, staff 

restroom, customers’ coffee shop, parking and servicing, unless otherwise 

agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.” 

      Condition 16 of the original consent stated:-   

“There shall be no subdivision into separate retail units of the retail unit hereby 

permitted.” 

The permission therefore restricted the unit from selling food, or from being subdivided.   

4.2  In 2009, a certificate of lawful development/use was issued (LPA ref 0190/2009). This 

confirmed that there are no restrictions for the non-food unit in relation to the type or range 

of comparison goods that can be sold from the unit.  

4.3 Planning permission was granted in February 2013 (LPA ref. 0379/2012) for the installation 
of a mezzanine floor measuring approximately 2,405sqm (GIA) providing 1,784sqm of net 
additional retail floor space.  The permission was not implemented and has now lapsed.   
 

5.  Consultation Responses 
 
5.1 National Grid: No objection.  

TBC Policy and Delivery: No objection. 
TBC Economic Development: No response.  
Environment Agency: No objection  
Local Lead Flood Authority: No objection subject to conditions. 
Severn Trent Water: No objection subject to conditions. 
Staffordshire County Council Highways Authority: No objection subject to conditions. 
TBC Environmental Health: No objection. 
TBC Tree Officer: No objection. 
Staffordshire Fire and Rescue: No objection. 
Staffordshire Police: No objection. 
Highways England – No response 
Waste Services – No objection 

 
5.2  Whilst every effort has been made to accurately summarise the responses received, full 

copies of the representations received are available to view at 
http://planning.tamworth.gov.uk/northgate/planningexplorer/generalsearch.aspx  

 
5.3  The consultation responses comments are précised if conditions are proposed these are 

included within the conditions at the end of the report unless stated otherwise. 
 
6.  Additional Representations 
 
6.1  As part of the consultation process, adjacent residents were notified and a press notice and 

site notices were erected. Whilst every effort has been made to accurately summarise the 

Page 38

http://planning.tamworth.gov.uk/northgate/planningexplorer/generalsearch.aspx


responses received, full copies of the representations received are available to view at 
www.tamworth.gov.uk.  

 
6.2.  1 objection was received during the consultation process. The objection raised concerns 

surrounding the position of the proposed drive thru blocking off an existing pedestrian 
access, which in turn would result in increased vehicle movements within Ventura Park. 
Having considered this objection it is clear from the plans that a pedestrian access would 
be retained at the car park entrance, which is not a considerable distance away and 
therefore it is not felt that the location of the Drive Through would result in a reduction of 
pedestrian movements. Highways have been consulted as part of the application process 
and have expressed no objection to the proposed development. 

 
7.  Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
7.1 Due regard, where relevant, has been taken to the Tamworth Borough Council’s equality 

duty as contained within the Equalities Act 2010. The Council has had due regard to the 
Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED).  Under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, a public 
authority must in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the interests and needs 
of those sharing the protected characteristics under the Act, such as age, gender, disability 
and race.  

 
7.2  There may be implications under Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the Human 

Rights Act, regarding the right of respect for a person’s private and family life and home, 
and to the peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  However, these issues have been taken 
into account in the determination of this application. 

 
8.  Environmental Impact Assessment 
 
8.1  As is required under the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 

(England and Wales) (as amended) Regulations 2017, a Screening Opinion has been 
undertaken and this concluded that the development proposal does not require an 
Environmental Impact Assessment. 

 
9.  Planning Considerations 
 
9.1  Taking into account the application made, the documents submitted (and supplemented 

and/or amended where relevant) and the site and its environs; the main issues central to 
the determination of this application are: 

 

 Principle of development including impacts on the Town Centre and Economy 

 Design, Character and Appearance  

 Residential Amenity 

 Highway Issues 

 Drainage and Flood Risk  

 Landscaping and Ecology 

 Other Material Planning Considerations 
 
 
9.2  Principle 
 

9.2.1  Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires all planning 
decisions to be made in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a 
material planning consideration. Both the Local Plan (LP) and the NPPF contain a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development.  Policy SS2 (presumption in favour of 

Page 39

http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/


sustainable development) of the LP makes reference to the presumption contained within 
para 11 of the NPPF, which states:- 

Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.  

For decision-taking this means:  

c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date 
development plan without delay; or  

d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies 
which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, 
granting permission unless:  

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets 
of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed6; or  

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole.  

9.2.2 The adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 (LP) is the starting point in assessing the 
acceptability of this planning application.  

9.2.3 This application has arisen primarily as a result of conditions 12 and 16 of the original 

consent, for if these were not imposed, the changes now proposed could take place 

without the need for planning consent. These are as follow:- 

Condition 12: 

“Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use 

Classes) Order 1987 and the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) Order 1995 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting these Orders 

with or without modifications) the premises shall not be used for any purpose 

other than the retail sale of non-food goods, DIY and associated garden 

products, and uses ancillary to the primary use of the site for A1 retailing, 

where such ancillary uses may include a store for retail goods, the office, staff 

restroom, customers’ coffee shop, parking and servicing, unless otherwise 

agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.” 

9.2.4 The purpose of this condition was to stop the retail unit from selling food goods as their 

primary purpose, which would prevent a supermarket, for example, occupying the building. 

The reasoning for such conditions are often to ensure that there would be no harmful retail 

related impacts (trade draw) on similar units within more sequentially preferable locations, 

in this case, the Town Centre.    

  Condition 16 of this permission states: 

“There shall be no subdivision into separate retail units of the retail unit hereby 

permitted.” 

9.2.5 Often (but not always) the subdivision of retail units, into smaller units within the same use 
class are not considered to constitute a ‘material change of use’ or to result in the creation 
of a new planning unit and is therefore not defined as ‘development’. As such, in many 
situations, subdivision does therefore not require the formal submission of a planning 

Page 40



application. However, there may be situations where is it both reasonable and necessary to 
restrict such, on the basis of planning policy concerns or other material considerations. 
Condition 16 was likely to have been imposed in this case as at the time of the application, 
there may not have been any comparable units/sites within a sequentially preferable 
location (such as the Town Centre) which could have accommodated the proposal. Had 
however the unit been smaller, there may indeed have been more sequentially preferable 
sites which could have fulfilled the need, and if this were the case, in the absence of such a 
condition preventing subdivision, the proposal may not have been found acceptable.  

9.2.6 Central to the determination of this application, it is therefore essential to understand the 
impacts on the Town Centre (and any other sequentially preferable locations) of allowing 
food retail from the unit (s) and also to determine whether there are any sequentially 
preferable sites or buildings which could accommodate the proposal.  

9.2.7 As the application also proposes a restaurant and drive thru, which is also defined as a 
main town centre use1, it is also necessary to understand the potential impacts of this 
facility on the town centre and whether it is situated in a sequentially appropriate location.  

 
Impact upon Town Centre  
 
9.2.8  Local Plan policy SS1 (The Spatial Strategy for Tamworth) states that Tamworth town 

centre will be the primary focus for new retail, leisure and tourism development over the 
Plan period.  

 
9.2.9 The application site is shown on the Policies Map accompanying the Local Plan as ‘Out of 

Centre Retail’. The relevant policy requirements are found within Policy EC1, as follows:- 
where a development involving main town centre uses is proposed outside of the town 
centre, local or neighbourhood centres, it must demonstrate:                       

 
a.) Compliance with the sequential test  
b.) Good accessibility by walking, cycling and public transport  
c.) That there will be no adverse impact on the vitality and viability of other existing centres  
d.) It will not prejudice the delivery of other strategic objectives  

 
9.2.10 Policy EC1 continues, defining a floorspace threshold for ‘main town centre uses’ within out 

of centre retail parks, (such as this) of 250sq.m, for when an impact assessment is 
required. Impact assessments are necessary to assess the retail related impacts of the 
new use on existing comparable uses.  

 

9.2.11 Policy EC2 (Supporting Investment in Tamworth Town Centre) also states:  
 

Development that will have a significant adverse impact on the vitality and viability of 
the town centre will not be supported unless it has been demonstrated that the wider 
economic benefits will outweigh the detriment to the town centre. 

 
9.2.12 On the basis of condition 12 of the original consent, it is necessary to consider the impact 

associated with food retail sales on the vitality and viability of other existing centres (only 
food related retail impacts need to be considered as the unit has consent for non-food retail 
trade). In addition and on the basis of condition 16 of the original consent, a sequential 
assessment is also necessary to establish whether any sequentially preferable sites would 

                                                 
1 Retail development (including warehouse clubs and factory outlet centres); leisure, 
entertainment and more intensive sport and recreation uses (including cinemas, restaurants, drive-
through restaurants, bars and pubs, nightclubs, casinos, health and fitness centres, indoor bowling 
centres and bingo halls); offices; and arts, culture and tourism development (including theatres, 
museums, galleries and concert halls, hotels and conference facilities). (NPPF) 

Page 41



be available to accommodate either the two smaller retail units proposed or the restaurant 
with drive thru.   

 
9.2.13 Furthermore, para 86 of the NPPF offers further support, advising that a sequential test 

should be applied to planning applications for main town centre uses which are neither in 
an existing centre nor in accordance with an up-to-date plan and para 87 continues that 
when considering edge of centre and out of centre proposals, preference should be given 
to accessible sites which are well connected to the town centre. In regard to impact 
assessments, para 89 identifies that when assessing applications for retail and leisure 
development outside town centres, which are not in accordance with an up-to-date plan, 
local planning authorities should require an impact assessment if the development is over a 
proportionate, locally set floorspace threshold.  

 
9.2.14 There are also a number of Court Judgements and appeal decisions which provide further 

clarity on the application of the sequential test. The key points can be summarised as 
follows:  

 

 If a site is not suitable for the commercial requirements of the developer in question then it 
is not a suitable size for the purposes of the sequential approach;  

 Provided the developer has demonstrated flexibility with regard to format and scale, the 
question is whether the alternative site is suitable for the proposed development, not 
whether the proposed development could be altered or reduced so that it can be made to 
fit the alternative site;  

 ‘Suitable’ and ‘available’ generally mean ‘suitable’ and ‘available’ for the broad type of 
development which is proposed in the application by approximate size, type and range of 
goods;  

 The area and site covered by the sequential test search should not vary from applicant to 
applicant according to their identity, but from application to application based on their 
content (i.e. the identity and corporate attitudes of an individual retailer are excluded);  

 There is no requirement to consider the scope for disaggregation (unless specific 
circumstances dictate);  

 A site needs to be available at the current time or expected to become available within a 
reasonable period.  

 

9.2.15 Furthermore, the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) provides guidance on the sequential 

assessment and highlights at Reference ID:  2b-011-20190722 that: 

“The application of the test will need to be proportionate and appropriate for 
the given proposal.” The PPG also identifies at Reference ID: 2b-013-20190722 

that in terms of viability: 

“The sequential test supports the Government’s ‘town centre first’ policy. 
However as promoting new development on town centre locations can be 
more expensive and complicated than building elsewhere, local planning 
authorities need to be realistic and flexible in applying the test.” 

9.2.16 Importantly, the PPG recognises at Reference ID: 012 Reference ID: 2b-012-20190722 

that in applying the sequential approach to site selection: 

“…certain main town centre uses have particular market and locational 
requirements which mean that they may only be accommodated in specific 
locations.” 

9.2.17 It is considered that the approach outlined above is relevant in this instance given the 

nature of the proposed retailers to be accommodated on the application site have identified 

Page 42



the vacant John Lewis unit as the most appropriate site to meet their operational needs.  

The anticipated occupants also require a store that is large enough to offer a wide range of 

food goods as well as readily accessible parking. (to be considered in further detail below)   

a.) Compliance with the sequential test  
 
9.2.18 Application of the sequential site assessment must be attributed significant weight when  

assessing the acceptability of the proposal. This approach to site selection seeks to focus 
new development within existing town centres, where only if sites within, or on the edge of 
the centre are not suitable or available, will an out of centre site be appropriate. It has 
already been established that the application site comprises a sequentially preferable 
location to accommodate a retail unit of the size existing. It may be however, that there are 
sequentially preferable sites for smaller units, commensurate with the subdivided sizes now 
proposed and for the restaurant with drive thru facility.   

 
9.2.19  In accordance with relevant guidance and case law the sequential test needs to consider 

the availability of more centrally located opportunities for the specific development 
proposed.  

 

9.2.20 The application has been accompanied by a sequential assessment. This sets out the 
specific requirements relating to the proposal as a whole, which are considered justification 
as to why the disaggregation would not be an option in this case and would undermine the 
purpose of the proposal to occupy a vacant and already existing retail unit.  On this basis it 
is agreed that any sequentially preferable site would need to accommodate the below:- 

 The unit would need to be in a suitable location to serve the appropriate catchment area; 

 A unit size of circa. 5,300sqm (size of former John Lewis unit) (including a minimum 

floorspace of circa .4,770sqm and a maximum of circa. 5,830sqm, allowing for flexibility of 

+/- 10% of the proposed gross floorspace), for the retail unit as well as space to provide a 

Costa Coffee with a drive thru facility, to accommodate the proposal as a whole, or a site 

with an area of between 0.14ha and 0.17ha; 

 Prominent location with customer access at ground floor level; 

 Free and adjacent car parking with trolley bays within the car park for the customers, given 

the existing site includes a large car park; 

 Large floorplate areas, with the sales area on a single level and as few obstructions such 

as load-bearing columns as possible; 

 Good servicing arrangements separate from customer entrances including a service yard; 

and 

 Regular configuration.  

9.2.21 Furthermore, a more sequentially preferable site would also need to be able to fulfil the 

retailer’s specific requirements and business models; In this case the premises would need 

to be capable of selling food in one half, with the remaining half being able to sell 30% food 

goods.  

9.2.22 The applicant’s sequential assessment has acknowledged that there are a number of 
vacant sites within the town centre, but that these would be too small to accommodate the 
proposal and thus were initially discounted on these grounds.  The assessment has 
therefore focused in more detail on two more comparable sites. These comprise of the 
former Gungate site and 44 Ankerside shopping centre.  

 
Gungate Site 
  

9.2.23 Planning permission was granted in 2010 for the redevelopment of this site to provide circa 

20,660sqm of retail development with ancillary uses.  The site is approximately 1.64 

Page 43



hectares.  This permission was extended by an additional three years in 2013.  This 

permission lapsed, however, a new application was subsequently submitted and granted in 

May 2017 (Ref. 0523/2016) which was a resubmission of the original permission.  No 

reserved matters applications have been submitted and therefore, this permission has also 

now lapsed. This site remains a key regeneration priority for the Council, however in 

response to changing market demands, shopping habits and social demands, it is unlikely 

that any future re-development proposal will now be retail led. Furthermore, the site as a 

whole is not available on the open market. For the reasons set out this site is neither 

considered available or suitable for the proposed development. 

Ankerside (44) Shopping Centre  
 

9.2.24 Ankerside Shopping Centre is located on George Street in Tamworth Town Centre. This 

unit consists of a ground floor level, measuring 1,393sqm and basement level measuring 

1,486sqm (ie total of 2,879sqm).  As mentioned above, both retailers require one single 

level with access to their store on ground floor.  On this basis, the basement level is 

unsuitable for either retailer. 

9.2.25 The ground floor level, as mentioned above, measures 1,393sqm.  This unit is therefore 

too small to accommodate the proposed development as a whole.  Furthermore, if the 

proposed development were to be split, Unit 2 measures 3,350sqm and therefore, the 

ground floor level is too small to accommodate this unit.  Unit 1 measures 1,950sqm and 

even with the flexibility of +/- 10% of the proposed floorspace for Unit 1 (Aldi), the ground 

floor level would still be too small to accommodate the Aldi unit on its own. On the basis of 

the above, it is agreed that this unit would not be suitable to serve the purposes of the 

proposed uses.  

Restaurant and Drive Thru  

9.2.26 The submitted sequential assessment has also considered whether any vacant units in the 

town centre could accommodate a restaurant with a drive thru facility. Of the sites 

assessed the sequential test has confirmed that the vacant units would either be too small 

(even allowing for reasonable flexibility) and/or they are of a format that would not allow the 

“drive-thru” element to be provided. On account of this, it is accepted that the drive-thru 

restaurant could not be accommodated on a sequentially preferable site.   

9.2.27 The content and scope of the submitted sequential test have been considered and Officers 

concur that there would be no other similarly sized, available sites in a more sequentially 

preferable location, and so on this basis consider the sequential test  to have been  

passed.  

b.) Good accessibility by walking, cycling and public transport  
 
9.2.28 In regards to criterion b.), the site and wider area currently functions as a retail destination 

and supports a board range of uses.  As a result of this, the existing level of infrastructure 
and opportunities to access the site by walking, cycling and public transport are good. 
These connections mean that the site can promote opportunities for healthy and safe travel 
and reduce the need to travel by car.  The proposal would also encourage sustainable 
transport modes (walking and cycling), with pedestrian and cycle links established within 
the area. Officers therefore consider that the proposal would be in compliance with this 
element of the Policy. 

 
c.) That there will be no adverse impact on the vitality and viability of other existing centres 
- Impact Assessment 

 

Page 44



9.2.29 Policies EC1 and EC2 of the LP along with the NPPF require an assessment of the Impact 
of relevant development on the Town Centre, and assert that development proposals 
should be refused if they would be likely to have a significant adverse impact on Town 
Centre vitality and viability.  

 
9.2.29 The application is accompanied by a Retail Impact Assessment, (as required by policy 

EC1) to determine whether the proposed development would have an impact on existing, 
committed and planned public and private sector investment in a centre, or centres within 
the catchment area of the proposal, and to determine the impact on town centre vitality and 
viability, including local consumer choice and trade in the Town Centre and wider retail 
catchment area.  

 
9.2.30 The Impact Assessment solely focusses on the impacts associated with the sale of food 

from the premises and specifically the sale of food goods from 1,979sqm of the former 
John Lewis (ie 974sqm in the proposed Aldi and 1,005sqm in the proposed store in Unit 1) 
on the basis that the former John Lewis store is already permitted to sell non-food goods.  

 
9.2.31 The assessment considered a number of issues under sub headings. The first of these 

related to impacts on Town Centre vitality and viability. This section set out by defining the 
catchment area, assessing the turnover of the defined centres and foodstores, calculating 
the food turnover of the proposal and finally by proving estimations in regards to the 
proportion of the proposals’ food turnover that would be likely to be ‘drawn’ from existing 
centres and stores (based on a like for like comparison).  

 
9.2.32 The research identified that the retail area in which the application site is situated has very 

significant levels of inflow and a large catchment area. Furthermore, notwithstanding that 
the Town Centre is unlikely to be in robust health, it includes a limited number of food 
retailers and small supermarkets including Iceland, Farmfoods and the Co-op, and is not 
therefore reliant on food retail. In addition, given the nature of the proposed discount 
foodstore and goods sold, it is expected that customers will continue to use other shops 
and facilities in the locality to supplement their food shop at the store.  

 
9.3.33 In light of this, the food store proposed (Aldi) is expected to compete with retailers who sell 

a comparable range of goods. This includes the existing Aldi stores at Saxon Drive and 
Glascote Road, the Lidl at Bolebridge Street as well as other supermarkets, including the 
Asda at Ventura Park Road and Sainsbury’s at Bitterscote Drive, which are both located 
opposite the site. The proposal is also likely to draw trade from the proposed Lidl at Ninian 
Way (although this development has not yet been consented). However, only limited trade 
is expected to be drawn from Tamworth Town Centre and nearby Local Centres given that 
these do not include any larger supermarkets and primarily include smaller food 
stores/shops who meet top up shopping needs.  

 
9.3.34 In terms of the proposed variety store, similarly this again will primarily draw food trade 

from retailers who sell a comparable range of goods, including existing supermarkets and 
other variety stores (Home Bargains and B&M).  

 
9.3.35 Overall the proposal would only result in an impact of 3% on the food retail turnover of the 

town centre, which would not be considered significant and should not be of a level that 
would result in the closure of existing shops. It should also be noted that the town centre 
and its health is not reliant on food retailing given that variety of uses within.   

 
9.3.36 In terms of cumulative food related impacts, the associated impacts of the proposed Lidl 

and B&M at Ninian Way on the food turnover of the various centres and foodstores within 
the Study Area have also been considered. The study identifies that even taking into 
account these commitments, the proposal would only have a 7.1% cumulative food impact 
on Tamworth town centre, which is not considered to represent a significant adverse 

Page 45



impact. It is acknowledged however that whilst the proposal at Ninian way has received a 
resolution to approve, it has not yet been granted planning permission.  

 
9.3.37 The policy wording within the NPPF and the Practice Guidance is concerned with 

‘significant impact’. National policy and guidance have been purposefully drafted in these 
terms because it is accepted that most new developments will have at least some impact 
on the surrounding area. As a consequence, the bar for what is deemed to be 
unacceptable is set very high and the pertinent question therefore is not whether there will 
be an impact, but whether the impact is ‘significantly adverse’. 

 
9.3.38 In considering the impacts, there are a range of material considerations which are 

influential. These include the fact that the former John Lewis store (having a net sales area 
of 3,902sqm (excluding the outdoor sales area) could be re-occupied by a range of non-
food retailers who would compete with shops in Tamworth Town Centre and could actually 
draw more trade from the town centre than the proposal. Furthermore, the site is already 
situated within an established retail area and additional retail floorspace has already been 
accepted at the site through the granting of permission for a mezzanine floor of 2,405sqm 
providing 1,784sqm of net additional retail floorspace (although this consent has now 
lapsed and so can no longer be implemented). 

 
9.3.39 Overall it is considered that whilst there may be an element of harm in terms of vitality and 

viability, it is unlikely that there would be a demonstrable quantitative significant adverse 
impact on the vitality and viability of the Town Centre that would warrant refusal of the 
application. On this basis Criterion c) is considered to have been satisfied.  

 
d.) It will not prejudice the delivery of other strategic objectives  

 
9.3.40 In relation to criterion d. (of Policy EC1), policy EC2 states that the Gungate redevelopment 

scheme is the preferred location for main town centre uses in Tamworth up to 2021 and 
that this remains the case until either the site is developed or the end of 2020/21 has been 
reached with no substantial progress having been made; in which case a review of 
Tamworth’s retail requirements will be carried out to consider potential alternatives. On this 
basis, whilst the Gungate site remains the preferred location for town centre uses, any 
proposed development that prejudices the delivery of that site should be considered to be 
contrary to policy EC1. This said, we are now a significant way through 2020/21 with no 
progress having been made on the delivery of a retail-led development on the Gungate 
site. Additionally, the Council has now taken ownership of the site and is exploring options 
for its redevelopment with a scheme that is more appropriate in the current economic and 
social climate. Officers therefore consider that, should the proposed development be 
approved and implemented, it would be unlikely to be factor in the failure of a retail-led 
scheme being delivered on the Gungate site. On that basis, Officers are satisfied that the 
proposal would be unlikely to prejudice the delivery of other strategic objectives set out in 
the Local Plan.  

 
9.3.41 In order to be considered appropriate, this proposal would need to meet the requirements 

as set out in policy EC1. Due to the change in circumstances on the Gungate site, Officers 
are satisfied that the proposal would comply with requirements a) and d). Furthermore, due 
to its good accessibility, there would be no conflict with requirement b). Finally, on the basis 
of the submitted Retail Impact Assessment, it has been demonstrated that there would be 
no significant adverse impact on the vitality and viability of the existing centres and so 
criterion c). would be met.   

 
9.3.42 On balance, it is not considered that the impact upon the town would be significant enough 

to justify refusal of the application. This is particularly the case when the fall-back position 
is taken into account. The application is therefore considered to be in accordance with 
policies EC1 and EC2 of the adopted Local Plan. 

 

Page 46



9.4  Design, Character and Appearance  
 
9.4.1 An important consideration in determining the acceptability of the proposal are impacts of 

the proposed design on the character and appearance of the site and the surrounding 
area.  

 
9.4.2 The importance of design is highlighted in policy EN5 of the LP. This seeks to ensure that 

high quality buildings and places are achieved across Tamworth and includes specific 
criteria (a – j) to ensure such. The criteria seeks to specify requirements relating to 
architectural style, mass, layout and scale, materials and landscaping, the incorporation of 
active frontages and measures to aid legibility, minimise or mitigate environmental impacts, 
pay regard to highways safety and secure health benefits.  

 

9.4.3  Furthermore, para 124 of the NPPF sets out that: - The creation of high quality buildings 
and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 
achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better 
places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to 
communities.  

 
9.4.5 This application proposes only minor alterations to the existing building. The proposed front 

elevation alterations would provide two new entrances for the separate retailers. The 
shopfront design would be modern and uniform, similar to those within the wider retail area.  
Overall the scheme has been designed to be of high quality and be in keeping with and 
respond to the existing character of the retail park, thus minimising its impact on the 
surrounding area. The proposals would create a policy compliant and appropriately 
designed scheme that positively complements its surroundings. 

 
9.4.6 The proposed restaurant and drive thru would be located in the existing car park, at the 

north-eastern corner of the wider site. The proposal would comprise of a single storey unit 
with a floor area of 204sqm. The unit would be finished in horizontally laid timber cladding 
and blockwork (painted white) and the roof would be made from plastisol coasted profile 
panels sprayed black. The overall appearance of this building would therefore be modern 
and in keeping with similar facilities in the surrounding area. To minimise visual and traffic 
related impacts, the drive-thru access road is to be located along the southern boundary of 
the site.  A landscaped buffer is also proposed, which would soften and help assimilate the 
proposal within its setting.  

 
9.4.7 In light of this, the proposed development demonstrates high quality design principles that 

respect the surrounding area. There scheme therefore complies with Policy EN5 of the 
Local Plan along with the intensions of Chapter 12 of the NPPF and the Design SPD. 

 
9.5  Residential Amenity 
 
9.5.1  Criterion g of Policy EN5 of the LP seeks to minimise or mitigate environmental impacts for 

the benefits of the existing and future occupiers of adjacent land. Notable impacts identified 
include loss of light, privacy or security, unacceptable noise, pollution and flooding and a 
sense of enclosure and Criterion e of Para 170 of the NPPF states that LPA’s should:- 

prevent new and existing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable 
risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise 
pollution or land instability. Development should, wherever possible, help to improve 
local environmental conditions such as air and water quality, taking into account 
relevant information such as river basin management plans.  

 
9.5.2  Due to the intensified use of the site, there would be the potential for increased levels of 

noise and disturbance.  However appraisal of these issues must be considered in the 
context of the fallback position (in that the site has a lawful retail use) and on the basis of 

Page 47



the character and composition of uses in the surrounding area. In terms of land use, there 
are no residential properties immediately adjoining the site, the nearest residential 
properties are located approximately 420m from the site.  On consideration of the 
intervening distances between the site and closest residential area, it is not considered that 
the proposal would result in a material level of harm in terms of residential amenity (on the 
basis of issues identified above).  

 
9.5.3  Overall, on the basis of the site context, the fall-back position and the distance of nearby 

residential properties from the site, it is not considered that the proposal would result in any 
materially harmful impacts in terms of residential amenity. The proposal is therefore 
considered compliant with the requirements of policy EN5 of the Local Plan and the 
overarching intensions of the NPPF. 

 
9.6  Highway Issues 
 

9.6.1  Policy SU1 of the LP seeks to ease and improve the quality of access within the Borough 
through a range of policy criteria (a – i) of specific relevant to this application criterion i) 
requires improvements and traffic management measures as required to mitigate the 
impact of development traffic, with the Policy continuing to state that contributions towards 
infrastructure will be required where proportionate and necessary. In addition, Policy SU2 
of the LP requires development to be accessible by walking, cycling, and public transport… 
and that planning permission should only be granted where development would ensure 
adequate highway safety, suitable access for all. The Policy continues that Planning 
Permission will be refused where travel to and from the development would be likely to 
cause harmful levels of pollution, highway safety or capacity issues. In regards to new 
roads, design advice is provided, in that they should result in a high quality public realm 
and finally a section on parking requirements is included, supplemented by Appendix C.  

 

9.6.2  The NPPF at para 108 states that:- in assessing sites that may be allocated for 
development in plans, or specific applications for development, it should be ensured 
that:  

 
a) appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be – or have 
been – taken up, given the type of development and its location;  

b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; and  
 

c) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of 
capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an 
acceptable degree.  

 
9.6.3  And para 109 continues that:-  Development should only be prevented or refused on 

highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.  

 
9.6.4  The application site was previously occupied by the John Lewis store and so when 

considering the highway impacts associated with the current proposal, the previous 
situation and fallback position must be considered. On this basis, the previous use would 
have generated a considerable number of vehicle movements, thus impacting on the 
surrounding highway network.  

 
9.6.5 A Transport Assessment accompanies the application. This demonstrates that the 

proposals would not result in materially different vehicle movements to those relating to the 
existing lawful use of the site. The key conclusions of the Transport Assessment are as 
follow: 

 

Page 48



 The site is located on an established retail park with good accessibility by sustainable 
modes of 

 transport, including frequent bus services to Tamworth town centre from bus stops 
immediately outside the site; 

 A traffic generation exercise has been undertaken which indicates that the proposed 

 development would not result in a material increase in traffic when compared to the figures 
used for the original planning permission for the existing unit; 

 Vehicle access is to remain as existing; 

 A car parking accumulation exercise has been undertaken which indicates that the level of 
car parking proposed is more than sufficient to cater for the predicted demand associated 
with the proposed development; and 

 The site is in a sustainable location, safe and suitable access can be achieved for all users, 
and there are no significant impacts from the development on the local highway network. 

 
9.6.6 In relation to parking provision, Appendix C of the Local Plan sets out the maximum car 

parking standards. The proposed development includes a loss of 31 parking spaces (25 of 
these are from the staff parking area to the north of the site) to accommodate the 
restaurant and drive thru facility and the proposed service yard. 

 
9.6.7 For retail uses the standards require a maximum provision of 1 staff car parking space per 

100sqm of floorspace and 1 customer space per 20sqm of floorspace. The floorspace of 
the subdivided unit would be 5,300sqm and so on this basis the maximum customer car 
parking spaces would be 265. However the proposal would provide 280 car parking 
spaces. 

 
9.6.8 The restaurant and drive thru facility would provide two dedicated disabled car parking 

spaces and a delivery/servicing space, and the supporting information states that 
dedicated core and fresh deliveries would take place three times per week from a mix of 
vehicles.  

 
9.6.9 In terms of highway access, Ventura Park Road provides access within the retail park. This 

is an unclassified road with a 30mph speed limit. It has footways to both sides and street 
lighting. Ventura Park Road is linked to the A5 trunk road by Thomas Guy Way (maintained 
by Highways England). The site is currently served by two vehicular access points, one to 
the customer car park and the other to the service yard. Existing parking provision on the 
site comprises of 275 customer bays (including 14 disabled bays and 8 parent & child 
spaces) plus 36 staff parking bays, resulting in a total of 311 spaces.  

 
9.6.10 The County Highways Authority have been consulted on the application. They have made 

a number of comments, but have raised no objection subject to conditions and a planning 
obligation to secure a Travel Plan and monitoring fee.  

 
9.6.11 Highways have commented that the scheme would result in some changes to the customer 

and staff parking to accommodate the additional service yard and drive through. They have 
acknowledged that parking provision for customers would comply with the identified 
parking standards, but that the reduced staff parking area (16 spaces) would provide 
significantly less than the required 53 spaces. For these reasons, and to encourage 
sustainable travel a Framework Travel Plan for the site is has been requested. 

 
9.6.12 The above comments and the request for a Framework Travel Plan will be considered in 

further detail. Whilst it is accepted that the current proposal would result in the loss of a 
number of parking employee parking spaces, overall the proposal would continue to 
provide in excess of the maximum number of spaces (albeit that a reduced number would 
be specifically be designated for staff parking). The central consideration in regards to 
parking provision is whether there is an under provision that would result in a highways 
safety issue associated with an increased demand fro on street parking in the area. In this 
case there would be no highway safety issue caused as the overall numbers of parking 

Page 49



spaces would be adequate to cater for the proposal. In regards to the Justification for a 
Framework Travel Plan, the CHA have made reference to when such are required. They 
have referenced a table in which it is identified that proposals for either food or non-food 
retail would require such if the unites were to have a floor area in excess of 1000m2. In this 
case the combined floor area would be well in excess of this threshold, however the 
majority of this would be existing floor area. The only new floor area proposed would be 
that relating to the restaurant and drive thru. On this basis the net increase in floor area 
would be just over 250m2. Furthermore the proposal would only result in a net increase of 
18 employees in comparison to the historic operation. On account of this, it is therefore not 
considered that a Framework Travel Plan would either be necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms or fairly and reasonably related in scale and 
kind to the development proposed. As such the request would fail to meet the tests as set 
out in the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 and so will not be 
imposed.  

 
9.6.13 In regards to vehicle tracking and turning for the service yard, this has been considered as 

acceptable.  
 
9.6.14 In terms of vehicle movements during peak hours, these have been derived from TRIC’s 

database and are predicted to be similar to the previous use. Parking accumulation, also 
derived from TRIC’s, suggests that customer parking is sufficient for the proposed uses.  
The highways authority have also pointed out that it is  unclear if any Electric Vehicle 
Charging Points are proposed, but given the increased numbers of such vehicles, it is 
recommended that a minimum of two charging points are provided prior to first use of the 
site. Finally in regards to cycle parking provision, the facilities proposed are not considered 
adequate to cater for the number of staff and customers and so a condition has been 
recommended to secure the provision of an adequate number of facilities.  

 
9.6.15 On the basis of the above, it is considered that the development would be situated within a 

sustainable location which benefits from good access from a various modes of transport 
and subject to those conditions which are considered both reasonable and necessary, 
would not result in any severe impacts upon highway or pedestrian safety. The application 
is therefore considered to comply with policy SU2 of the adopted Tamworth Local Plan 
2006-2031 and the NPPF 2019. 

 
9.7 Contamination and Pollution  
 
9.7.1  Criterion g) of Policy EN5 of the LP seeks to ensure that environmental impacts associated 

with a development are minimised or mitigated and Policy SU5 of the LP states that 
development should manage the risk of ground or water pollution and where risk is 
identified it should be mitigated. The Policy continues that permission will be refused where 
pollution would pose an unacceptable risk to public health, quality of life or the environment 

which is not mitigated. The NPPF at para 178 (a) states, planning policies and decisions 
should ensure that: a site is suitable for its proposed use taking account of ground 
conditions and any risks arising from land instability and contamination. This includes 
risks arising from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, and any 
proposals for mitigation including land remediation (as well as potential impacts on the 
natural environment arising from that remediation) and at para 179 it is confirmed that 
where a site is affected by contamination…, responsibility for securing a safe development 
rests either the developer and/or landowner.  

9.7.2  Environmental Health have been consulted as part of the application process. They have 
expressed no objection to the proposed development and have no concerns relating to 
ground conditions or that the proposed development would be at risk of contamination or 
harm public health. As such, the proposal would therefore be in accordance with Policies 

Page 50



EN5 and SU5 of the LP and the relevant paragraphs of the NPPF and is deemed to be 
acceptable.  

9.8 Drainage and Flood Risk 
 
9.8.1  Policy SU4 of the LP states that all new developments including regeneration proposals, 

will need to demonstrate that there is no increased risk of flooding…and shall seek to 
improve existing flood risk management. The Policy continues that all development will be 
expected to incorporate appropriate Sustainable Urban Drainage Techniques (SUDS) that 
will manage flow rates on site, limit surface water runoff discharge rates and limit or avoid 
the connection of surface water discharge into the combined sewer network. The Policy 
further requires that development should not have an adverse impact on water quality and 
that major development should demonstrate that there is adequate wastewater 
infrastructure in place to serve the development. The NPPF at para 163 advises that LPA’s 
should ensure that floor risk is not increased elsewhere and c) that SUDS are incorporated 
unless there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate.  

 
9.8.2  The site is located within Flood Zone 3, meaning that there is a high probability of flooding. 

As such, under Policy SU4 of the Local Plan and paragraph 163 of the NPPF, a Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) has been prepared and submitted alongside this application. The FRA 
acknowledges the existing and proposed uses of the site and considers flood risk in this 
context. Notwithstanding this, the proposed restaurant and drive thru are identified, but 
conclusions are drawn that there would be no sequentially preferable and available sites 
within a lower area of risk. Overall the FRA concludes that the proposed development 
would be acceptable in flooding terms. The report also identifies that the site is protected 
from fluvial flooding from the River Tame by EA maintained flood defences and in light of 
this, the FRA concludes that future users of the proposed development would be safe from 
flooding and there will be no detrimental impact on third parties.  

 
9.8.3 On the basis of the specific site circumstances and due to the application being a major 

development proposal, the Environment Agency (EA), the Local Lead Flood Authority 
(LLFA) and Severn Trent Water have been consulted. 

 
9.8.4 The LLFA have confirmed that the site is within EA flood zone 3, but that the area benefits 

from flood defence measures. In regards to surface water flooding, they have identified that 
the updated Flood Map shows the site could be susceptible to ponding associated with a 
1:1000 – year event, but have continued that there have been no recorded flooding events 

within 20m of the site. On this basis they have raised no objection to the application 
subject to the imposition of pre-commencement conditions. These conditions would 
ensure that the full detailed drainage design is submitted for review, and that sufficient 
measures would be put in place to ensure no increase in flood risk will be caused as a 
result of the development. Two specific conditions have been suggested, the first 
would require final detailed surface water drainage design, incorporating sustainable 
drainage techniques and the second would seek details to ensure satisfactory 
arrangements for the control of surface water are in place as part of any temporary 
works associated with the permanent development, to ensure that flood risk is not 
increased prior to the completion of the approved drainage strategy.   

 
9.8.5 Severn Trent Water and the LLFA have responded to confirm that they have no objections 

subject to a pre-commencement condition requiring the submission of details for surface 
and foul water drainage.  

 
9.8.6 The Environment Agency have similarly confirmed no objection subject to the development 

being undertaken in accordance with the details included within the submitted flood risk 
assessment and the identified mitigation measures, which state that the finished floor 
levels shall be set at existing ground level or higher. (The mitigation in reference to the 

Page 51



floor levels would only be applicable to the proposed restaurant and drive thru as the 
other binding on site is existing.) 

 
9.8.7 Subject to the imposition of the suggested conditions and on the basis of the existing flood 

defence measures it is not considered that the proposed development would increase the 
risk of flooding within the site, to the surrounding highways or to the nearby 
commercial/residential properties and there would be adequate infrastructure /measures in 
place to manage surface water in a sustainable way. Furthermore, the LLFA, EA and 
Severn Trent have all expressed no objections to the proposed development, subject to 
conditions. Therefore the proposed development is compliant with Policies SU4 and SU5 of 
the Local Plan and the NPPF para 163. As such the proposed development is deemed to 
be acceptable.  

 
9.9  Landscaping and Ecology 
 
9.9.1 Policy EN4 of the LP states that development should not result in a net loss of biodiversity 

by ensuring that where harm to biodiversity is unavoidable and it has been demonstrated 
that no alternative sites are suitable, development is adequately mitigated or as a last 
resort, compensated for. In regards to landscape related matters the Policy suggests that 
developments should incorporate planting of native trees, where appropriate. The NPPF at 
para 170 advises that when determining planning applications, local planning authorities 
should:-  

 
d) minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, including by 
establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future 
pressures;  

 
and para 175 of the NPPF continues that:- 

 
a) if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be avoided 
(through locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts),  adequately mitigated, 
or, as a last resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be refused.  

 
9.9.2  A landscaping scheme has been submitted with the proposal. This identifies that the 

proposed development would result in the loss of 10 existing trees along the boundary of 
the application site fronting onto Ventura Park Road. To mitigate this, 16 new trees have 
been proposed within the landscaped area surrounding the boundary of the application 
site. This would result in an improved situation in terms of biodiversity and amenity value 
over and above that existing and TBC’s Tree Officer has been consulted, and has 
expressed no objection to the proposed development. 

 
9.9.3 In relation to landscaping and biodiversity, as a result of the enhanced landscaping, there 

would be no loss in terms of biodiversity and it is considered that the natural environment 
and character of the area would be preserved and enhanced. As a result the proposal 
would be compliant with Policy EN4 of the Local Plan and the relevant paragraphs of the 
NPPF. 

 
9.10 Material Planning Considerations 
 
9.10.1  In regards to economic impacts more generally, the NPPF at para 80 sets out that:-  

Planning policies and decisions should help create the conditions in which businesses 
can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight should be placed on the need to 
support economic growth and productivity, taking into account both local business 
needs and wider opportunities for development. With Paragraph 81(d) advising that 
policy should be flexible enough to accommodate needs not anticipated in the plan, 

Page 52



allow for new and flexible working practices (such as live-work accommodation), and to 
enable a rapid response to changes in economic circumstances.  

 
9.10.2  The Council aims to support the redevelopment of brownfield sites through bringing them 

back into a viable use. This approach is supported by para 117 of the NPPF which states 

that  planning policies and decisions should promote an effective use of land in meeting 
the need for homes and other uses and para 118 c) identifies that:- substantial weight 
should be attributed to the value of using suitable brownfield land within settlements for 
homes and other identified needs. The application site constitutes a previously 
developed site (brownfield land) and this alone is considered as favourable to the 
alternative of developing a greenfield site and so should be attributed weight.   

 
9.10.3  Through the redevelopment of the site employment opportunities would be created. 

These would comprise of construction related employment as well as a range of 
opportunities created by the proposed end users. This should help boost local job 
creation and the local economy as a whole. In terms of numbers, it is estimated that 
the proposal would result in 40 jobs within the proposed Aldi store, approximately 90 jobs 
in the other retail unit and 11 new jobs within the Costa Coffee unit. The proposal would, 
therefore, results in 141 jobs (including a mixture of full and part time jobs) for the Borough. 
This is a net increase of 18 jobs for the site, if John Lewis were still to occupy the unit, 
however, as it stands, the unit is currently vacant and therefore, providing no jobs. This is a 
material consideration in favour of the development.  

 
9.10.4  The application site is currently vacant and has been for some time. The proposal would 

bring the site back into viable economic use, and due to the intensified form of 
development proposed, the scheme would result in the efficient use of land. Furthermore, 
the development would result in environmental enhancements through the re-use of a 
previously developed site. Therefore on this basis there would be enhancements to the 
local and wider economy and overall, the development would be compliant with the 
overarching intensions of Local and National Planning Policy.  

 
9.11 Overall Planning Balance; Summary and Conclusion 
 
9.11.1  The application site comprises of an existing retail site, on which is a large building 

benefiting from consent to trade in non-food related retail goods. The site is served by 
existing accesses and parking provision and whilst in flood zone 3, benefits from EA flood 
defences. The building on the site has been vacant for almost a year and is not therefore 
currently contributing to the local economy.  

 
9.11.2 The application has been submitted to fulfil the needs of three identified end users. One 

who would trade in food related goods, one who would trade in a combination of food and 
non-food related goods and the other who would provide associated restaurant and drive 
thru facilities.  

 
9.11.3 Whilst there are various planning considerations applicable to this development, the central 

concerns relate to the retail related impacts of the development on the Town Centre and 
whether or not there would be any sequentially preferable sites which could accommodate 
the proposal. To assess such impacts, the application has been supported by a Retail 
Impact Assessment and a Sequential Assessment. The content of these assessments 
have been considered and where necessary, further information has been sought. On 
balance however, Officers agree with the conclusions drawn in these documents, in that 
there would be no sequentially preferable sites on which to accommodate the proposal and 
that any impact on the Town Centre, in terms of its vitality and viability would not be 
significantly adverse.  

 

Page 53



9.11.4 In regards to other planning issues, subject to the imposition of conditions (where 
requested and deemed  reasonable/ necessary) the development is not considered to 
result in any materially harmful impacts in terms of design, character or appearance, 
residential amenity, highway safety, flood risk and drainage or biodiversity and trees.  

 
9.11.5 There are also a number of other material planning considerations which must be attributed 

positive weight in the decision making process. The site is host to a lawful retail use along 
with  associated built development and infrastructure, the proposal would bring the site 
back into a viable economic use (including job creation) and through the proposed 
intensification and by virtue of the site being defined as brownfield land, the development 
would result in efficiencies of land use.  

 
9.11.6  On balance, and on the basis of the content of this appraisal and the submitted application 

documents and suggested conditions it is considered that the development would be 
acceptable and in accordance with the adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (as amended). 

 
10  Recommendation 

 
Approval subject to the conditions outlined below in accordance with the requirements 
outlined in this report.  

 
11  Conditions/Reasons: 
 
1.  The development shall be started within three years of the date of this permission. Reason: 

To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by 
Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  

 
2.  The development hereby approved shall only be carried out in accordance with the 

application form, the supporting letter and drawing numbers: The development hereby 
permitted shall only be carried out in accordance with the application form, the supporting 
letter and drawings:  

 
3241/200 – Location Plan 
3241/204 Revision B – Proposed Site Plan 
3241/205 Revision B – Proposed Floor Plan 
3241/206 Revision C – Proposed Elevations 
3241/207 – Proposed Coffee Drive Thru* Plans and Elevations 
0398/20/B/1 – Landscape Planting Plan 

 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of achieving sustainable 
development. To define the permission. 

 

3. No development shall begin until the final detailed surface water drainage design has 
been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with 
the Lead Local Flood Authority. The design must demonstrate: 

 

 Surface water drainage system(s) designed in accordance with the Non-
technical standards for sustainable drainage systems (DEFRA, March 2015).  

 SuDS design to provide sufficient water quality treatment, in accordance with 
the CIRIA SuDS Manual Simple Index Approach and SuDS treatment design 
criteria.  

 Mitigation indices are to exceed pollution indices for all sources of runoff and 
sufficient treatment measures should be in place.  

 Limiting the discharge rate generated by all rainfall events up to 100 year plus 
climate change in accordance with the guidance in the SCC SUDS Handbook. 

Page 54



Provision of surface water runoff attenuation storage to achieve the limited 
discharge.  

 Detailed design (plans, network details and full hydraulic calculations) in support 
of any surface water drainage scheme, including details on any attenuation 
system, SuDS features and the outfall arrangements.  

 Calculations should demonstrate the performance of the designed system and 
attenuation storage for a range of return periods and storm durations, to include 
as a minimum the 1:1 year, 1:30 year, 1:100 year and the 1:100-year plus 40% 
climate change return periods.  

 Plans illustrating flooded areas and flow paths in the event of exceedance of the 
drainage system.  

 Finished floor levels to be set higher than ground levels to mitigate the risk from 
exceedance flows.  

 

These mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and 
subsequently in accordance with the scheme’s timing/ phasing arrangements. The 
measures detailed above shall be retained and maintained thereafter throughout the 
lifetime of the development. 
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future 
occupants 
 

4. No development shall begin until drainage plans for the disposal of foul water flows 
have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme 
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details before the development 
is first brought into use.  
Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with a satisfactory means of 
drainage and to minimise the risk of pollution. 

 
5. No phase of the development shall take place, including any demolition works, until a 

Construction Vehicle Management Plan (CVMP) has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the construction period. The statement shall include: 
 

 Arrangements for the parking of site operatives and visitors.  

 Loading and unloading of plant and materials.  

 Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development  

 Construction and delivery hours  

 Measures to remove mud or debris carried onto the highway 
 
Reason: To protect pedestrian and highway safety in accordance with Policy SU2 of the 
Local Plan  
 

6. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the parking, 
turning and servicing areas have been provided in accordance with the details as 
shown on submitted Drg. ‘Proposed Site Plan drawing 3241/204 Rev. B’ and the 
parking bays shall be clearly delineated. The parking, turning and servicing areas shall 
remain free from obstruction and shall be retained for their intended use thereafter. 
Reason: To protect pedestrian and highway safety in accordance with Policy SU2 of 
the Local Plan.  
 

7. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until covered and 
secure cycle storage for staff and customers are provided in accordance with details 
first to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These 
facilities shall subsequently be maintained retained thereafter. Reason: To encourage 

Page 55



alternative, more sustainable modes of transport in accordance with Policy SU2 of the 
Local Plan.  

 
8 Notwithstanding the information provided prior to their incorporation in to the building(s) 

hereby approved, details and/or samples of the facing materials to be used shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 
shall thereafter be constructed using the approved facing materials. Reason: In the 
visual interest of the building(s) and the surrounding area.  

 

9 The approved details of soft landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and 
seeding seasons following the first occupation of the buildings or the completion of the 
development, whichever is the sooner; any plants which within a period of five years 
(ten years in the case of trees) from the completion of the phase die, are removed or 
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season 
with others of similar size and species and thereafter retained for at least the same 
period, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation. 
Reasons: In the interests of the setting and visual appearance of the development in 
compliance with policies EN4 and EN5 as set out in the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-
2031 and provisions of the NPPF.  

 
10 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) Order 2015, as amended, or any order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order with or without modification, the restaurant and drive thru hereby approved shall 
be used only for the specified purpose and for no other purpose whatsoever. Reason: 
Only the approved use has been considered in establishing whether the proposal 
would have acceptable impacts in this location, and other uses would require further 
detailed consideration by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
11 The two retail units hereby approved shall not be subdivided into smaller retail units. 

Reason: In the interests of preserving the vitality and viability of the Town Centre as 
there may be more sequentially preferable sites available for smaller units.  

 
Informatives  
 
While the site is in an area benefiting from flood defences the impact that a breach or 
overtopping of the defences should be considered in the design of the development.  
We would strongly advise including a finished floor level freeboard and incorporating a 
flood proof design to the new buildings to make the site resilient should these events 
happen. 
 

 

Page 56



 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

 30th March 2021 

 
 
 

APPLICATION FOR CONSIDERATION 

 
0477/2020 

 

 
REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR - GROWTH & REGENERATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 57

Agenda Item 4d



 
 
Application Number:  0477/2020 
 
Development:  New disability accessible treatment room with covered link (re-submission 

of 0238/2020) 
 
Location:  58 Albert Road, TAMWORTH, B79 7JN 
 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1.  The proposed development is for the erection of an outbuilding to act as a treatment room to the 

rear of 58 Albert Road to serve an existing business. The proposed outbuilding would be located in 
a position where an original outhouse was situated, which has now been demolished. The building 
would be signifciantly larger than the original structure and would sit against a row of existing 
outbuildings. The proposed outbuilding would be an L- shaped and have a tiled pitched roof. There 
would be a tiled roof to link the outbuilding to the rear elevation of 58 Albert Road. The applciation 
has been called in to be determined by the Planning Committee at the request of a local Ward 
Member.   
 

2. Relevant Site History 
 
 

0672/2005 Approved Property change of use from residential to business.  Ground floor to be used 
as a podiatry (chiropody) clinic, first floor to be let as offices 

0044/2006 Approved Property change of use from Residential to Commercial.  Business will be 
Podiatry (Chiropody) and aesthetic medicine 

T00800 Approved Offices 
0362/2016 Withdrawn DEMOLITION OF OUTBUILDING, CONSTRUCTION OF NEW SECURE 

STORE AND COVERED LINK BETWEEN EXISTING AND PROPOSED 
BUILDINGS AND INSTALLATION OF 2 NO. VELUX WINDOWS IN REAR 
ROOF SPACE 

0105/2017 Refused – 
Appeal 

Dismissed 

Demolition of existing outbuilding, construction of new treatment room and 
associated toilet facilities for disabled customers, with entrance lobby linked to 
original building and installation of 2 no.velux windows in rear roof space 
(resubmission 0362/2016) 

0248/2018 Approved Installation of 2no. 'conservation' roof lights/veluxes in rear roof slope of main 
roof 

0280/2018 Approved Certificate of Lawful Development [proposed] for the demolition of outbuilding to 
rear of property 

0220/2019 Approved Rear extension with glazed link to allow disabled access to treatment rooms 
0238/2020 Refused Demolition of an existing outbuilding and subsequent replacement with a new 

disability accessible treatment room with covered link. 
 
0105/2017 – Application was refused by TBC based on the potential harm to the setting of the 
locally listed buildings and the scale of the development not being appropriate for the residential 
urban fabric of the run of properties. The decision was appealed by the applicant and the Planning 
Inspectorate subsequently dismissed the appeal, concurring with the objection from the 
Conservation Officer and the recommendation of the Planning Officer. 
 
0220/2019 – This application was submitted in a format that was similar to applications 0105/2017 
and 0220/2019 both of which were refused, and this current application being considered. A number 
of revisions were made based on site visits, meetings and dialogue with the applicant. A scheme 
was presented that was suitable for the applicant and acceptable to both the Conservation and 
Planning Officers. As such an acceptable design has been reached without the need to return to the 
previous layout which has been refused a number of times. 
 
0238/2020 – This application was identical to the application being considered within this report. The 
application was refused as it would lead to the same harm as application 0105/2017 and the original 
scheme submitted with application 0220/2019. As such the refusal for this scheme and layout has 

Page 58



been determined in separate applications by 2 Planning Officers, 2 Conservation Officers and the 
Planning Inspectorate. 
 

3. Policies 
 

Adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 
 

 SS1  - The Spatial Strategy for Tamworth 

 SS2 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

 EN5 (Design of New Development) 

 EN6 – Protecting the Historic Environment 

 Appendix C – Car Parking Standard 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 

National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) 
 
Supplementary Planning Document – Design  

 
 

 
4. Consultation Responses 
 
4.1 Whilst every effort has been made to accurately summarise the responses received, full copies of 

the representations received are available to view at 
http://planning.tamworth.gov.uk/northgate/planningexplorer/generalsearch.aspx  

 
  
 Conservation Officer – Objection 
 

Environmental Health – No objection 
                         

The consultation responses comments are précised if conditions are proposed these are included 
within the conditions at the end of the report unless stated otherwise. 

 
5. Additional Representations 
 
5.1 As part of the consultation process adjacent residents were notified and a press notice and site 

notices were erected. Whilst every effort has been made to accurately summarise the responses 
received, full copies of the representations received are available to view at www.tamworth.gov.uk.  

 
 No responses have been received from neighbouring properties 
 
6. Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
6.1 Due regard, where relevant, has been taken to the Tamworth Borough Council’s equality duty as 

contained within the Equalities Act 2010. The authority has had due regard to the public sector 
equality duty (PSED).  Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, a public authority must in the 
exercised of its functions, have due regard to the interests and needs of those sharing the protected 
characteristics under the Act, such as age, gender, disability and race. This proposal has no impact 
on such protected characteristics. 

 
6.2 There may be implications under Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the Human Rights 

Act, regarding the right of respect for a person’s private and family life and home, and to the 
peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  However, these issues have been taken into account in the 
determination of this application. 

 
7. Planning Considerations 
 
7.1 Taking into account the application made, the documents submitted (and supplemented and/or 

amended where relevant) and the site and its environs; the main issues central to the determination 
of this application are: 

Page 59

http://planning.tamworth.gov.uk/northgate/planningexplorer/generalsearch.aspx
http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/


 

 Character and Appearance 

 Impact on the Historic Environment 

 Impact on the amenity of surrounding properties 

 Design SPD 

 Highway Safety 
 
7.2 Character and Appearance 
 
7.2.1 The appearance of a development is a material planning consideration and in general terms the 

design of a proposal should not adversely impact on the character and appearance of the wider 
street scene 

 
7.2.2 Policy EN5 – Design and New Development states that developments should be of a scale, layout 

form and massing which conserves or enhances the setting of development and utilize materials 
and overall detailed design which conserves or enhances the context of the development. Proposals 
should respect and where appropriate reflect existing local architectural and historic characteristics 
but without ruling out innovative or contemporary design which is still sympathetic to the valued 
characteristics of an area.  

 
7.2.3 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a material planning consideration in the 

determination of planning decisions. One of the core planning principles contained within the NPPF 
seeks to ensure a high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future 
occupants of land and buildings.  

 
7.2.4  Furthermore, para 124 of the NPPF sets out that: - The creation of high quality buildings and places 

is fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve. Good design is a key 
aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make 
development acceptable to communities.  

 
7.2.5  Paragraph 130 states that “Permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails 

to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the way it 
functions, taking into account any local design standards or style guides in plans or supplementary 
planning documents.”   

 
7.2.6 Design is subjective and open to interpretation and is often quoted as the art of making places for 

people, a process that is reliant on a number of different but mutually reinforcing objectives. 
Successful places constitute more than good architecture. It is important to understand the function 
of a place over time as well as the connections and spaces between buildings will affect the way a 
place ‘feels’. 

 
7.2.7 The proposal would have a significant impact on the character and appearance of this locality for the 

following reasons: 
 
7.2.8 The proposed development is for the erection of a single storey annex with linked roof that would 

join the rear of 58 Albert Road. The building would occupy the position of an historic (now 
demolished) out- building. The building would have a pitched roof design with gable ends that would 
mirror the direction of the previous and adjacent (original) out-buildings. The front of the annex 
would however have a ridge and a pitched roof connecting it to the rear of number 58. 

 
7.2.9 The proposed development represents a building that would be significantly larger in scale than the 

original and adjacent outbuildings. By virtue of the scale and massing of the proposed development 
it would not be in keeping with its surroundings and would represent overdevelopment of the site. 
The proposal would occupy approximately 50% of the rear garden area, and whilst the site is 
operated as a commercial facility the area is still characterised as a traditional residential setting, 
thus rendering the proposal inappropriate for the setting and location. This is a matter that has been 
concluded by both the Conservation Officer and the Planning Inspectorate in a previous appeal for a 
similar scheme. In addition the proposed out-building, by virtue of its scale (and some design 
elements) would be poorly related to the surviving outbuildings within this run of terraced properties 
and for this reason would also harm the areas character in this regard.  

 

Page 60



7.2.10 Due to the proposed joining of the out-building to the rear of the existing property, it would not be 
read as a separate entity, which is a strong characteristic of the area and would instead appear as a 
large single storey extension. This would in turn increase the visual impact, the bulk and the 
massing of the proposed development. 

 
7.2.11 This particular row of terraces along Albert Road remains relatively unaltered with the majority of 

their original features and general form/layout intact. For these reasons the row is locally listed. By 
virtue of this, the properties contribution to the area in terms of its character and history is 
considerable and positive.  

 
7.2.12  On the basis of the above, the proposed development is not considered to preserve or enhance the 

special historic character of the Conservation Area, the row or locally listed buildings or the 
specific/defined characteristics of the area. By virtue of its scale and design the proposal would have 
a detrimental impact in terms of the character and appearance of the application property as well as 
the visual amenity of the wider area. The proposed development is therefore contrary to Policies 
EN5 and EN6 of the Local Plan and is not deemed to be acceptable. 

 
 
7.3 Impact on the Historic Environment 
 
7.3.1 Policy EN6 – Protecting the Historic Environment indicates that developments should enhance or 

preserve the area as a whole. 
 
7.3.2 The application site is a terraced property which sits within the Victoria Road / Albert Road 

Conservation Area and is also identified as a locally listed building as part of the terrace within which 
it sits. Therefore the Conservation Officer has been consulted. The Officer has objected to the 
application on the basis of the following assessment: 

 
7.3.3 The terrace consists of 6 properties arranged and designed as a repeating series of architectural 

pairs with a central parched passageway running through the centre of each pair providing access 
to the rear. The properties have narrower rearward projecting ranges perpendicular to the street 
frontage, except for the westernmost property where the rear has been truncated by development to 
the south. Whilst these rear ranges are set near the centre of each pair, they are not connected, a 
narrow passage exists between each paired set. A series of outbuildings, again built as pairs 
spanning the boundary lines, stand separate to the south of the rear ranges parallel with the roofline 
of the main street frontage. Fewer of these have survived compared to the rear ranges with only one 
paired example left. The outbuilding at the application site has previously been demolished. 

 
7.3.4 The existence of the 2019 application and approval suggests that this represents a workable 

solution to provide and additional, disabled access treatment room. Nothing within this submission 
seeks to suggest that this approved scheme, available as a ‘fallback’ would not be practicable, 
indeed beyond the ‘previously approved building’ annotation on the ‘as proposed plans’ there is no 
reference to the 2019 approval within this latest submission. 

 
7.3.5 Where a proposal results in harm to a heritage asset it is legitimate, as determined in the case of 

Regina (on behalf of Forge Field Society et.al.) v. Sevenoaks DC, to consider whether the benefits 
of the scheme could be delivered in an alternative way which would avoid, or reduce, such harm. 
Following this line of reasoning, the presumption is that if the benefits can be delivered with reduced 
harm then an approach which results in more harm than is necessary cannot be subject to a ‘clear 
and convincing justification’ as required within paragraph 194 of the NPPF. 

 
7.3.6  This latest proposal, whilst superior to the refused 2017 scheme, does reintroduce aspects of that 

proposal which were both harmful and objectionable, and is the same scheme that was also refused 
via application 0238/2020. The minor step-in, notwithstanding the proposal, would read not as a 
detached structure linked to the main property but rather as a substantial single storey extension. 
The change in orientation to run in line with the neighbouring rear outbuilding represents an 
improvement from the 2017 design, but not to the extent that the proposal would read as a former 
outbuilding connected by a link or infill. The entrance door passage does not provide an effective 
break, its width is reflective of the requirement for disabled access and is hardly a substantial break, 
whilst the roof continues above this section unaffected.   

 

Page 61



7.3.7 The Conservation Officer has also made reference to specific wording in the former appeal decision 
in 2017 relating to a previously refused application (0105/2017) and dismissed appeal 
(APP/Z3445/W/17/3180024), which would apply to this proposal:- 

 
“The proposal would be considerably larger than the [former] outbuilding. It may only be the 
minimum required to meet the needs of the business, but the size and massing of the development 
would dominate the rear garden and would as a result be disproportionate in scale and form to the 
host property. The linking porch would assist in distinguishing between the old and new parts of the 
property and would reduce the amount of the rear host building wall that would be lost to 
development. However, it would do little to reduce the overall massing of the proposal. Although the 
single storey development would be subsidiary to the 2 storey main building in terms of height, it 
would lose its domestic scale. The size of the proposal would mean that it would not be viewed as a 
domestic extension or as an outbuilding that has been joined to the main building by a porch.” 

 
7.3.8 The existence of the 2019 approval confirms an alternative, less harmful approach which delivers 

the same benefits in terms of facilities (a single disabled accessible additional treatment room) 
means that there can be no clear and convincing justification for this needlessly more harmful 
proposal, and furthermore there is no attempt to provide such a justification within the submitted 
documents.  

 
7.3.9 The proposal would harm the special architectural and historic character and appearance of the 

conservation area and lacks a clear and convincing justification. A strong and statutory presumption 
against granting planning permission exists under section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  To the extent that wider benefits may exist they are the same as 
secured via the approved scheme. The proposal would also be harmful to the special character of 
the terrace as a non-designated heritage asset, a further matter to be weighed in any planning 
determination which would further add to the reasons for refusal in this case. 

 
7.3.10 A final point of consideration from the planning inspector’s report relates to the potential demolition 

of the outbuilding. The inspector stated that:- 
 

 “although the rear of the property may be subject to Permitted Development rights if it were still in 
residential use, this is not the case here and as such I give this argument little weight. Similarly, the 
appellant states that demolition of the outbuilding would not constitute development because of its 
size. Be that as it may, its demolition forms part of the appeal proposal and has been assessed 
accordingly. Even if the fall-back position was taken up and the out building was demolished, it 
would not alter my findings regarding the harm to the character and appearance of the Conservation 
Area as a result of the scale and design of the proposal.” 

 
7.3.11 Therefore taking into account the consultation response from the Conservation Officer as well as the 

statements made within the Planning Inspectors appeal decision report, it is clear that the proposed 
development is not compliant with Local or National Policies and would result in harm to the 
identified heritage assets for which there is no overriding justification. As such the proposed 
development is not deemed to be acceptable and would be contrary to Policy EN6 of the adopted 
Local Plan.  

 
7.4 Impact on the amenity of surrounding properties 
 
7.4.1 Policy EN5 – Design and New Development states that developments will be expected to minimise 

or mitigate environmental impacts for the benefit of existing and prospective occupants of 
neighbouring land. Such impacts may include loss of light, privacy or security or unacceptable noise, 
pollution, flooding or sense of enclosure. 

 
7.4.2 The proposed development would be likely to lead to some harmful impacts on the amenity of 

neighbouring properties. The scale and massing of the proposed development would mean that the 
proposed out-building would be overbearing and would lead to a sense of enclosure to the rear 
gardens of adjacent properties. Some of the properties within the row may be commercial in nature, 
however one of the adjacent properties is residential in use and would suffer some harmful 
overbearing and overshadowing impacts. However, as a result of the scale and design of the 
proposal, such impacts would not on balance warrant the refusal of the application on such grounds.  

 

Page 62



7.4.3 The proposed annex does not contain any windows and the door would not directly face onto the 
rear elevation of adjacent properties. Therefore there would be no significant impact associated with 
loss of privacy or overlooking. 

 
7.4.4 On balance, although an element of harm would be caused to the residential amenity of the 

adjacent dwelling, the impacts would not be so significant as to warrant refusal of the application on 
such grounds.  

 
 
7.5. Design SPD 
 
7.5.1 Tamworth Borough Council has a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) titled Tamworth Design 

Guidance which can be viewed on our website:  
 

http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/supplementary-planning-documents  
 
7.5.2 The Design Guidance was adopted in July 2019 and substantial weight is now attributed to it in 

accordance with paragraph 48 of the National Planning Policy Framework. Supplementary planning 
documents are capable of being a material consideration in planning decisions but are not part of 
the development plan.   

 
7.5.3 In relation to this application the following elements would not be in accordance with the guidance 

set out: 
 

 4.11 – The proposed development would lead to an unacceptable impact on the character of the 
wider and surrounding area. 

 4.12 – The proposed development is not informed by the character of the original building in terms 
of scale and massing, leading to over development of the site and also would not enhance the area 
as a whole. 

 4.21 – The development would not respect the character of the original building or the row of historic 
houses. This is of particular importance given the properties are situated within a Conservation Area 
and are locally listed.  

 
7.5.4 As such the proposed development would not be consistent with the requirements as set out within 

the Design SPD and therefore harm would be caused in this regard.   
 
7.6 Highway Safety 
 
7.6.1 Policies SU2 and EN5 require development proposals to have particular regard to highway safety, 

service requirements, the capacity of the local road network and the adopted parking standards. (as 
set out in Appendix C of the Local Plan)  

 
7.6.2 The proposal would not have a significant impact on highway safety for the following reasons:- 
 
7.6.3 The site does not benefit from off street parking, however it is located on a street with existing TRO’s 

in place in the form of double yellow lines and so there is not a risk associated with the development 
leading to an increase in on street parking directly outside on the adopted highway. The site is 
located close to the Town Centre and as such is within walking distance of a number of public 
carparks, as well as good public transport links. Notwithstanding that the proposal would result in 
additional treatment rooms and so may not be in complete accordance with the defined parking 
standards, as the site is situated within a sustainable location and as there are existing measures to 
restrict on-street parking, the development would not result in significant harm to pedestrian or 
highway safety and is therefore compliant with Policy SU2 of the Local Plan. 

 
 
8. Conclusion 
 
8.1 The proposed development is not considered to be acceptable in terms of design, scale and 

massing. It does not relate well to its surroundings and would result in significant harm the 
Conservation Area and locally listed buildings.  The existence of the 2019 approval confirms an 
alternative, less harmful approach which delivers the same benefits in terms of facilities (a single 
disabled accessible additional treatment room) meaning that there can be no clear and convincing 
justification for this needlessly more harmful proposal, and I note that no attempt to provide such a 

Page 63

http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/supplementary-planning-documents


justification is made within the submitted documents. The proposal would harm the special 
architectural and historic character and appearance of the conservation area and lacks a clear and 
convincing justification. A strong and statutory presumption against granting planning permission 
exists under section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  To the 
extent that wider benefits may exist they are the same as secured via the approved scheme. The 
proposal would also be harmful to the special character of the terrace as a non-designated heritage 
asset, a further matter to be weighed in any planning determination which would further add to the 
reasons for refusal in this case. The proposed development is not compliant with Policies EN5 or 
EN6 of the Local Plan. Consequently the application is recommended for refusal for the reason 
outlined below.   

 
9. Recommendation 
 

1. Refuse for the following reasons:- 
 
 

 
Reasons 
 
 

1. The development is considered to be of a scale, siting and appearance which fails to adequately 
respect its context and would have a significant detrimental impact upon the character and 
appearance of the host dwelling and of the wider Conservation Area. The development fails to 
preserve or enhance the Conservation Area or the locally listed buildings and the proposal is 
considered to be contrary to Policies EN5 and EN6 of the adopted Local Plan 2006-2031. 
 
 

 
  

 

Page 64



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

 30
th

 March 2021 
 
 
 

APPLICATION FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

0014/2021 
 
 
 

REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR - GROWTH & REGENERATION 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 65

Agenda Item 4e



 
 
Application Number:  0014/2021 
 
Development:  Reserved Matters application for the re-plan of approved planning 

permission ref. 0433/2019 for Phase 3 layout comprising application for 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale for 232 dwellings (a reduction 
of nine dwellings from previously approved layout). 

 
Location:  Land at Dunstall Farm, Dunstall Lane / Ventura Park Road / Meadow Road, 
Tamworth, Staffordshire, B78 3AX,  
 

 
1. Description of Proposal 

 
1.1 This is a reserved matters re-plan application for phase three of the development seeking 

approval for the layout, appearance, scale and landscaping relating to the grant of outline 
planning permission (0306/2016). The Outline application approved the construction of up to 800 
dwellings; the conversion of existing buildings to create A1, A2, A3, A4, B1, C3, D1 or D2 use, the 
erection of commercial buildings; construction of a one and a half form entry primary school and 
other associated works including engineering operations to remodel the flood plain. 
 

1.2 The details for phase 3 were previously approved under application reference 0433/2019, 
however for commercial reasons, amendments have been necessary. In main, the amendments 
propose a reduction of the overall number of units in the phase by 9. This reduction would be 
facilitated by the removal of two of the apartment blocks previously situated along the spine 
road. The apartments have been replaced by an alternative mix of dwellings. Aside from 
this, other minor changes are proposed to the positioning of plots to allow for larger 
external amenity areas as a result of the reduction in numbers.  

 

1.3 In detail, the application proposes the erection of 232 dwellings on approximately one third of 
the original site. The development includes 167 private houses and 65 affordable dwellings. The 
private housing would comprise of 6 (3%) one bedroom dwellings, 118 (51%) two bedroom 
dwellings, 70 (30%) three bedroom dwellings and 38 (16%) four or more bedroomed dwellings. 
The 65 affordable dwellings would comprise of 6 (9%) one bedroom dwellings, 48 (74%) two 
bedroom dwellings, 9 (14%) three bedroom dwellings and 2 (3%) four bedroom dwellings.  

 
1.4 The scheme encompasses the retention of Dunstall Lane to the north which would provide 

pedestrian and cycle infrastructure and linkages, along with links throughout the development from 
north to south. An access onto the canal towpath, adjacent to the canal bridge, would also be 
provided.  

 

1.5 The scheme illustrates the retention of a number of trees and hedgerows along Dunstall Lane 
along with the retention of the hedgerow running adjacent to the canal towpath.  Additional planting 
and landscaping is also detailed along the canal edge. The provision of sustainable drainage 
systems have been incorporated into the layout, utilising open space to assist in the delivery of 
these features where possible. The dwellings would predominantly be 2 storey’s in height, with a 
small number being 2.5 storeys. Two blocks of 3 storey flats are also proposed. These would be 
situated within the eastern part of the site, adjacent to the existing industrial units. The overall 
design approach would be traditional, with dwellings of brick and tile construction, with some 
introducing render for interest.   
 

2. Site and surroundings 
 

2.1 The outline site comprised of 54.09 ha of predominantly agricultural land to the west of Tamworth 
town centre. This element of the scheme is adjacent to the eastern edge of the site, by the River 
Tame flood plan. The site then continues towards the Birmingham and Fazeley canal, to the point 
where it meets the adjacent logistics industrial building. To the north east lies Hopwas village and 
to the west lies the retail and industrial parks of Bitterscote and Venture Park.  

 
2.2 The southern boundary of the site, to the south of Dunstall Lane is characterised by 

agricultural land and associated buildings with the canal and towpath running along the edge of the 

Page 66



site. To the west of the boundary lie agricultural fields, within the neighbouring borough of 
Lichfield.  The north of the site is bounded by the stopped up Dunstall Lane which now forms 
a pedestrian and cycle route through the site. To the east of the site are industrial and 
commercial units along with residential properties along Bonehill Road. Vehicular access is 
currently from Dunstall Lane, which links to Ventura Park Road; this is a narrow country lane, 
which winds from east to west. 

 
 

3. Relevant Planning History 

 

0308/2016 – Outline planning application, with all matters reserved except for  principal  means  of  
vehicular access from the highway, for residential development comprising up to eight hundred 
homes; the conversion of existing buildings to create a maximum of 900 square metres of floor 
space in A1, A2, A3, A4, B1, C3, D1 or D2 use and creation of associated curtilage; erection of 
commercial buildings; construction of a one and a half form entry primary school and other 
associated works including; engineering operations required to remodel the existing flood plain; 
demolition of existing agricultural buildings; "stopping up" of Dunstall Lane and re-use as 
pedestrian / cycleway; creation of alternative accesses to existing properties creation of noise 
mitigation bunds / fences; creation of public open space and leisure / recreation provision; 
creation of bridges / culverts across existing watercourses to access P.O.S. construction of foul 
and surface water drainage systems, including sustainable urban drainage; ecological 
mitigation works including the creation of new habitats; creation of footpath links to existing 
footpaths to the north and south of the site and installation of services and utilities. 

0249/2018 – Reserved matters application for Phase 1 of the development. The erection of 405 
residential units, including associated roads/driveways, landscaping and play areas. 

0433/2019 – Reserved matters application for Phases 2 & 3 of the development. The erection of 395 
residential units, including associated roads/driveways, and landscaping. 

 

4. Policies  

 
Adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 

 

 SS1 - The Spatial Strategy for Tamworth 

 SS2 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

 HG1 – Housing 

 HG4 – Affordable Housing 

 HG5 – Housing Mix 

 HG6 – Housing Density 

 EN3 – Open Space and Green and Blue Links 

 EN4 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity 

 EN5 – Design and New Development 

 SU2 - Delivering Sustainable Transport 

 SU4 – Flood Risk and Water Management 

 SU7 – Sport and Recreation 

 Appendix C – Car Parking Standard 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) 
 
SPG – Design  
 

5. Consultation Responses 
 

5.1 Full copies of all consultation responses received are available to view at 

www.tamworth.gov.uk Members of the Planning Committee as part of their consideration of 

this report should review these responses. A summary of the most relevant parts of the responses 
are provided below: 

 

Page 67

http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/


5.2 Tamworth Borough Council (Environmental Health) 
 

No objections 

 
5.3 Tamworth Borough Council (Tree Officer) 

 

No objections 

 
5.4 Tamworth Borough Council (Waste Department) 

 

No objections 

 
5.5 Tamworth Borough Council (Planning Policy) 

 
No objections 

 
 

5.6 Tamworth Borough Council (Housing Strategy) 
 
No objections 
 

5.7 Environment Agency 
 

 No objections subject to conditions  
 

5.8 Severn Trent Water 
 

No objections 

 
5.9 Staffordshire Fire and Rescue 

 

No objections 

 
5.10 Lichfield District Council 

 

No objections 

 
5.11 Staffordshire Police 

 

No objections 

 
5.12 Staffordshire County Council (Minerals) 

 

No objections 

 
5.13 Staffordshire County Council (School Organisation) 

 

No objections 

 
5.14 Staffordshire County Councils (LLFA) 

 

No objections 

 
5.15 Staffordshire County Council’s (Highways) 

Page 68



 
 No objections subject to conditions 
 

5.16 Staffordshire County Council’s (Ecology) 
 

 No objections 

 
5.17 Staffordshire County Council’s (Public Rights of Way Team) 

 

No objections 

 
5.18 Staffordshire County Council’s (Archaeology) 

 

No objections 

5.19 Canals and Rivers Trust 

 

Objections echoed the concerns raised via application 0433/2019 , which centred on the 
landscaping scheme proposed for the canal frontage, concerns over the impacts of the 
development on the listed canal bridge, lack of cycle way adjacent to the existing towpath and the 
proximity of some dwellings to the canal edge. 

5.20 Inland Waterways Association 

 

No Response 

5.21 Natural England  
 

No objections 

 
5.22 Cadent Gas 

 

No response 

5.23 Western Power 

 

No response 

 
6. Public Representations 
 

6.1 Site notice erected, press notice placed and adjoining neighbours consulted. No objections were 
received from neighbouring properties.  

 
7. Human Rights and Equality Implications 

 

7.1 There may be implications under Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the Human Rights Act 
regarding the right of respect for a person’s private and family life and home, and to the peaceful 
enjoyment of possessions. However, these issues have been taken into account in the 
determination of this application. 

 
7.2 Due regard, where relevant, has been taken to the Tamworth Borough Council’s equality duty as 

contained within the Equalities Act 2010. The authority has had due regard to the public sector 
equality duty (PSED). Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, a public authority must in the 
exercised of its functions, have due regard to the interests and needs of those sharing the protected 
characteristics under the Act, such as age, gender, disability and race. This proposal has no impact 
on such protected characteristics. 

 
8. Planning Considerations 

 

8.1 The in principle acceptability of this development has already been established through the approval 

Page 69



of the outline application. The overall design approach for phases 2 and 3 have also been found 
acceptable as per the previous reserved matters consent. (0433/2019) Therefore the matters for 
consideration in this re-plan principally relate to the amendments proposed to phase 3 and any 
impacts they may have on the wider development, these are:-    

 

 Layout 

 Scale and appearance 

 Affordable Housing 

 Landscaping; and 

 Other issues 

 

 
8.2 Layout  

 

8.3 Policy HG5 ‘Housing Mix’ requires that the types and size of houses proposed are reflective of local 
need. The following requirements are set out in the Local Plan:-   

 

 4% of new housing will be 1 bed 

 42% of new housing will be 2 bed 

 39% of new housing will be 3 bed 

 15% of new housing will be 4 bed 

 

8.4 As a result of the re-plan, phase 3 would now propose 3% one bed, 51% two bed, 30% three bed 
and 16% four bed, and when taking into account the housing mix approved on other phases of the 
development as a whole, the development would provide, 3% one bed, 38% two bed, 40% three 
bed and 19% 4 bed. Notwithstanding this, the slight divergence would not result in an overall mix 
that would be unacceptable. The amended mix has arisen as a result of issues identified in 
delivering the consented layout. Furthermore, as the Local Plan is now more than 5 years old, some 
of its underpinning evidence base is considered to be out of date. On the issue of local need, 
planning policy and strategic housing have been consulted and have both confirmed that the mix 
proposed would be acceptable.  

 

8.5 Policy HG6 ‘Housing Density’ requires that new residential development will make efficient and 
effective use of land, while enhancing the character and quality of the area. It continues that where 
viable and appropriate, development will be expected to achieve a density of between 30 and 40 
dwellings per hectare (calculated on the net developable area). The details provided illustrate that 
35 dwellings/hectare would be achieved. The aspirations of policy HG6 are therefore considered to 
have been met.  

 

8.6 In terms of the provision and layout of affordable housing, Policy HG4 requires that the Dunstall 
Lane SUE provides 25% affordable housing on site, with a mix of 25% intermediate tenure and 75% 
rented. Phase 3 would now provide 65 affordable dwellings, which equates to 28%, with the tenure 
split as stated.  Whilst this would exceed the 25% identified within the policy, the policy applies to 
the development as a whole, and whilst a slightly higher percentage would be delivered on this 
phase, this would not be so significant to harm the character of the development and would continue 
to ensure that the units would be spread evenly throughout. The slight increased number would also 
help to address the under provision provided by phase 1.  
 

8.7 In terms of the size of the units, the scheme would provide a majority of 1 and 2 bed dwellings, 
whereas the policy requires a higher provision of 3 and 4 bed units. As mentioned earlier in this 
report however, some evidence underpinning policies within the Local Plan are now out of date. This 
has been confirmed by both an RSL (provider of social housing) and the Council’s Housing Strategy 
Manger who have stated that the current need within the borough is for 1 and 2 bedroom dwellings. 
Housing data that the Council holds supports this, illustrating that  in Tamworth 95% of persons in 
band 1 and 2 (highest need) on the Housing register require  1 and 2 bedroom properties. Welfare 
legislation also re-enforces the need for smaller properties, as bedroom subsidy removes Housing 
Benefit for bedroom under occupation by 14% and 25%, meaning that larger families with children 
under 10 are expected to share a bedroom, thus placing further pressure on the 1 and 2 bedroom 
need. 

 
8.8 In terms of both the provision and composition of the affordable housing offer proposed within this 

phase no objections have been raised by the Borough’s Housing Strategy team or Planning Policy 

Page 70



and on the basis of the most up to date evidence, the proposal is considered acceptable in this 
regard.   

 
8.9 Policy EN5 – Design and New Development states that developments should be of a scale, layout 

form and massing which conserves or enhances the setting of development and utilise materials 
and overall detailed design which conserves or enhances the context of the development. Proposals 
should respect and where appropriate reflect existing local architectural and historic characteristics 
but without ruling out innovative or contemporary design which is still sympathetic to the valued 
characteristics of an area. 

 
8.10 The amended layout would orientate the dwellings to take advantage of views over the canal and 

the open spaces, thus offering a high level of natural passive surveillance. Parking provision would 
comprise of either frontage or tandem parking and the provision would comply with the standard 
contained within the local plan. On this basis the layout would not result in excess “on street” 
parking. The road surface treatment of the private drives and the main route through the site would 
comprise of a varied pallet of materials resulting in a greater degree of visual interest to the 
streetscape and a more informal character to certain areas of the site, and to soften the appearance 
of the dwellings from the street scene and to add character, front gardens or landscaped areas 
would be provided to the frontage of properties.  

 

8.11 The corner plots would be dual aspect providing connectivity to both streets, and plots sited at the 
end of street vistas would be of more grandeur design to aid navigation and act as landmarks. 
These techniques represent good urban design practices and would help to create a sense of place 
whilst also aiding legibility. Small independent character areas within the development would also 
provide a varied and interesting environment.  

 
8.12 During the assessment particular consideration has been given to the potential impacts associated 

with overlooking and loss of privacy. The plans indicate that there would be no significant impacts 
associated with overlooking or loss of privacy. Plots have been positioned and houses orientated in 
such a way to ensure no direct overlooking and where properties would back onto one another, 
separation distances set out within the SPD have been adhered to and the minimum garden depths 
of 10.5m have also been incorporated. Orientation of windows and where required, blank elevations 
and window repositioning has taken place, such as on corner plots where gardens may be located 
to the side of properties. These measures have also ensured that overlooking and loss of privacy 
would not be significantly harmed. 

 
8.13 Due to the positioning and orientation of the properties, there would be no significant impacts 

associated with any properties being overbearing or leading to a sense of enclosure or 
overshadowing.  

  

8.14 On the basis of the above, there would be no significant impacts in terms of residential amenity and 
the proposed layout would comply with the requirements set out within Policy HG5 and the SPD. 

 

8.15 The open spaces detailed by this application are reflective of those sought in the outline masterplan, 
and ensure the delivery of a balanced community where the housing does not dominate the area. In 
terms of open space provision and blue links, the submitted details identify the amount of open 
space that would be provided on phase 3 (both formal and informal), however due to the open 
space to the north of the site (which partially sits within the flood plain, yet is included within the sites 
red line) the development would provide in excess of the prescribed 2.34Ha per 1000 head of 
population. This overprovision is however considered to be a positive aspect of the development 
and no objections have been received from Planning Policy on these grounds.  

 
8.16 Play facilities would also be generally in accordance with the masterplan.  This included 3 formal 

play areas across the whole scheme. Whilst it is acknowledged that none of these will be located 
within Phase 3, one formal play area would be situated on the boundary between the southwestern 
corner of Phase 1 and the eastern boundary of Phase 3 and so all properties within Phase 3 would 
be within walking distance of a formal play area. The scheme provides substantial informal open 
space adjacent to the River Tame which will allow for the provision of more informal open space. 
Whilst the provision of outdoor play areas is not ideal, all properties within the development are 
within walking distance of some form of open space whether it be formal or informal. An additional 
response was sought from the EA over the usability of the open space to the north of the site 
throughout the year. The EA stated that due to the remodelling works that have been carried out, 

Page 71



the plans represent a sound proposal and one that is replicated across other developments across 
the country. Therefore officers are satisfied with the provision and layout of outdoor and recreation 
space. 

 

8.17 In addition to the open space, the site sits along a canal and towpath and as such is within the 
vicinity of a blue link. The site would provide 2 access points onto the canal tow path and upgrades 
to upgrade the quality of the tow path have been secured through the S016 legal agreement 
attached to the outline application.  On account of this, the development is considered to have 
capitalised on the blue links adjacent to the site, which overall would be beneficial in terms of 
permeability. On this basis the proposal would be compliant with Policy EN3 of the Local Plan.  

 
8.18 Highways have been consulted to assess the internal road layout now proposed by phase 3. The 

assessment considers the network of roads spurring off from the approved spine road as well as 
visibility splays and off street parking provision.  

 
8.19 In accordance with the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan Car Parking Standards there is a 

requirement for two spaces for traditional two and three-bedroom dwellings and three spaces for 
four or more-bedroom houses. The standards detail that “Spaces within garages can be included 
when calculating the number of car parking spaces provided.” The internal dimensions of the 
garages are appropriate for them to be counted both as car parking spaces and as cycle parking. 
Highways have assessed the parking provision throughout Phase 3 and have confirmed that the 
development complies with the required parking requirements set out within Appendix C of the Local 
Plan. 
 

8.20 Highways have raised no objections to the proposed layout, however have sought additional details 
to clarify pedestrian visibility splays of two metres by 25 metres for pedestrians and cyclists on 
specific plots and junctions. Highways are content that this can be dealt with via preoccupation 
conditions that would be included on any consent.  

 

8.21 The details submitted for the highway corridors leading from the spine road and onto the ‘private’ 
roads have been deemed to be acceptable in terms of their width and the manoeuvrability afforded 
by the bends and straights proposed. As such the layout of the roads would be compliant with 
highways’ requirements. The specific details of the edges of the highway corridor are yet to be 
confirmed, however highways are content for this to be dealt with via condition. 

 

8.22 There are no objections from highways in regards to the proposed layout in terms of highway or 
pedestrian safety. As such, subject to the recommended conditions, the development would be 
compliant with Policy SU2 of the Local Plan.  

 

8.23 The amendments proposed would reduce the overall number of units in the scheme by 9. The most 
notable change would be the removal of 2 of the apartment blocks located along the main spine 
road. As set out above, these have been replaced by an alternative mix of dwellings, which has 
been deemed as acceptable. Aside from this, the other changes predominantly comprise of the 
slight re-positioning of plots to allow for larger external amenity areas as a result of the reduction in 
numbers. Overall the amended layout would continue to result in high quality design and would not 
result in harm on grounds of character or appearance or highway safety. On the basis the 
development is considered to be compliant with the applicable local and national policies and would 
be acceptable.  

 
8.24 Scale and Appearance 

 
8.25 Officers have fully considered the importance of policy EN5 when assessing the re-plan. Care has 

been taken to ensure that the design, general appearance and material finishes on properties would 
be in keeping with those used within Phase 1. The elevation treatment would vary across the site 
with the larger properties containing gable features and some plots having dormers, to provide 
addition accommodation within the roof spaces. The material palate proposed also varies across the 
site making use of a range of textures and styles of brick as well as render. This would result in a 
diverse mix of styles and character which would further provide identity to the site and areas within 
it.  

 

8.26 In terms of scale, the vast majority dwellings would be two storeys, consistent with development 
within the vicinity of the site. However there would be 2 blocks of three storey flats. These would be 

Page 72



sited adjacent to the main spine road and would therefore act as a focal point, to aid with legibility. 
Two of the apartment blocks included within the previous scheme for phase three have been 
removed by this proposal and as such, the scale and massing of this phase has been reduced. This 
reduction has lowered the density (in comparison to that approved under the previous 
application0433/2019) to a more acceptable level that would be more reflective of the local 
character.  

 

8.27 The boundary treatment plan proposes brick built walls on the majority of the important prominent 
corners with landscaping strips providing a buffer towards the road. The boundary treatment 
between gardens would comprise of timber fencing which is considered acceptable in residential 
settings. 

 

8.28 The scale and appearance of the site is deemed to be acceptable and compliant with Policy EN5 of 
the Local Plan. The proposed dwellings would be in keeping with those approved within the first 
Reserved Matters application for Phase 1, and would result in a development that would marry up 
with other elements of the wider development. 

   
8.29 Landscaping 

 

8.30 In terms of strategic landscaping, to help assimilate the development within its setting and to soften 
its edges, landscaped buffers along the perimeters of the site have been proposed. These would be 
in conformity with those identified on the masterplan submitted with the outline application.  

 

8.31 High quality landscaping is also included to the north of the site. A large amount of hedgerow would 
be incorporated and retained along Dunstall Lane, along with mature trees. In general, soft 
landscaping would be used to successfully break up the massing of the development. However, 
again to aid permeability, a number of pedestrian accesses through to the adjacent footway are 
proposed, along with linkages from the informal open space to the north, linking through the linear 
open space to the south and to the canal. This would result in development that is of a higher 
quality, whilst also adding interest and variety to the development as a whole. 
 

8.32 The hedgerow that runs along the southern boundary of the site adjacent to the canal would be 
retained, however there would be two small sections removed to aid permeability through the site 
and to the canal towpath, which on balance would justify the proposed removal.  Overall the 
development would not result in a significant loss of vegetation and the landscaping details 
proposed have been considered acceptable by the Tree Officer and the County Ecologist. The 
proposed development is therefore compliant with Policy EN4 of the Local Plan.    

 

8.33 The application is accompanied by a soft landscape proposal plan which demonstrates how and 
what planting is proposed around the development. This illustrates a variety of planting to the 
frontage of properties to soften the impact of the hardbound materials as well as street trees and 
grass verges along the avenues and highways. Trees and planting are also proposed to surround or 
boarder the site and are located along pedestrian and cycle ways to create tree lined ‘boulevards’ 
throughout. A hard landscaping plan has also been provided to show how the hard bound areas, 
including the public highways would be laid out. 

 

8.34 Other issues  
 

8.35 Canal Frontage and Heritage 
 

8.36 An objection was received from the Canals and Rivers Trust with regards to the proposed layout of 
the development, in particular where the development borders the canal and Grade II listed bridges. 
The objections were centred on the proximity of the proposed properties and associated driveways 
to the towpath as well as the lack of vegetation to be planted along the site boundary to screen the 
development from the canal and towpath. Concerns were also raised over the width of the tow path 
adjacent to Phase 3 of the development. The objection also raised concerns over the potential 
impact that the development could have on the setting of the listed bridges. The proposed layout is 
not significantly altered from the previously approved layout along the canal frontage in application 
0433/2019. As such the proposed layout would not have a significantly detrimental impact on the 
setting of the listed bridges and does not represent a significant change from the previously 
approved scheme.  

 

Page 73



8.37 During the previous application process (0433/2019), a number of revised layouts were submitted to 
overcome the concerns raised by the Canals and Rivers Trust and IWA, additional screening has 
been illustrated within the updated landscaping scheme which increases the level of natural 
screening of the development from the towpath. The Canals and Rivers Trust have previously stated 
that they see this as an improvement on the original scheme and accept that it does reduce the 
impact of the development on the canal and towpath slightly, however they maintain their objection 
on grounds that their concerns have not been fully addressed. The landscaping plans submitted with 
this application are consistent with those approved by application 0433/2019. As such the 
landscaping and screening along the canal front is deemed to be acceptable and would not result in 
significant harm to the character and appearance of the canal setting. 
 

8.38 A further consideration when assessing the loss of parts of the hedgerow are the benefits 
associated with increased permeability. Whilst it is acknowledged that sections of the existing 
hedgerow are to be removed, these are to facilitate access points onto the canal towpath from the 
development. As a result permeability and connectivity from the site onto existing local sustainable 
transport links would be significantly enhanced.  As such the proposed access onto the towpath 
(which will itself be significantly improved as a result of S106 contributions) would encourage the 
use of sustainable transport modes throughout the development and into wider areas of the 
borough, supporting Policy SU2 of the Local Plan. Therefore on balance the loss of sections of 
existing hedgerow are considered acceptable.  

 

8.39 In addition to the additional landscaping proposed, the S106 secured through the outline permission 
has secured a financial contribution to improve the canal towpath and associated environment. 
Therefore the towpath and canal frontage would be directly enhanced as a result of the 
development (in particular Phase 3) and it is not considered that there would be significant harm to 
the setting of the canal corridor.  
 

8.40 An objector also expressed a desire for the towpath to be widened to accommodate a designated 
cycle path and separate pedestrian footpath. It is deemed on balance that this is not necessary 
along the edge of the towpath. There is already a designated cycle and pedestrian route to be 
included within the development, along the stopped up Dunstall Lane which is considered to provide 
the required provision. The inclusion of separate cycle and pedestrian paths along the towpath 
would increase conflict between users as this would encourage cyclists to use the towpath, however 
the separate provisions could only be accommodated for a small stretch of the towpath, once the 
towpath meets the existing distribution centre there would no longer be room for the two lanes and 
so it would have to be reduced to one, increasing conflict amongst users. Therefore on balance, due 
to there being provision for sustainable modes of transport elsewhere within the development and 
the fact that the area adjacent to the site is not suitable for the two lanes on the towpath, the 
proposed plans are deemed acceptable.    
 

8.41 The objection also raises concerns that the development does not relate to or take into account the 
rural setting and surrounding and as a result will harm the setting of the canal and towpath. Whilst it 
is acknowledged that the development would alter the rural character of the area, the principle of 
allowing residential development in this location has already been deemed acceptable and 
measures have been put in place to mitigate the environmental impacts as far as possible, and to 
ensure that a positive character is developed. Notwithstanding this, the canal to the east of the site 
is adjacent to large industrial and commercial premises and so the surrounding area is not comprise 
of a completely undeveloped landscape. On balance it is not felt that the proposed development 
would result in a significant harm to the setting of the canal beyond what has already been deemed 
acceptable through the outline approval. Through discussions with the developer, amended plans 
have been submitted which include large areas of additional landscaping to further screen the 
development from the canal. It is acknowledged that the development would have an impact on the 
setting of the towpath, however the principal of the development in this location has already been 
approved and the scheme seeks to minimise the impact of the development on the character of the 
canal and towpath as far as possible.  
 

8.42 A final part of the objection relates to the impact of the development on the Grade II listed bridges 
that cross the canal. A heritage statement was submitted with the outline application, which 
appraised the impacts of the development on the historic environment.  The decision was taken at 
the outline stage that the proposed development would not lead to significant harm to the setting of 
the listed bridges, and as the layout has changed little from that which was presented at the outline 
stage, it is not felt that the proposed layout would generate any significant harm to the setting of the 

Page 74



listed bridges. On this basis the proposal is not considered to harm the setting of the listed bridges 
and would comply with Policy EN6 of the Local Plan. 

 
8.43 SPD 
 

8.44 The Design SPD was formally adopted in July 2019 and substantial weight is now attributed to it in 
accordance with Paragraph 48 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). Supplementary 
planning documents are capable of being a material consideration in planning decisions, but not part 
of the development plan and are guidance and not policy. The proposed development within Phases 
2 and 3 is largely compliant with the requirements set out within the Design SPD. 

 

8.45 The proposed development will result in high quality urban design, with quality materials being 
incorporated into the design of the dwellings. Each unit will incorporate architectural detailing which 
will increase the quality of the developments street scene as well as add architectural interest and 
variety throughout the scheme. Therefore the development will generate high quality urban design 
and as such is compliant with the requirements set out within the SPD. 
 

8.46 The development adheres to the required minimum separation distances (21m for a two storey 
property and 30m for a three storey property) as well as the minimum required garden depth 
(10.5m). Therefore overlooking and loss of privacy will not be significant issues that any of the 
properties within the development experience.  
 

8.47 The development meets the requirements set out within the Design SPD, where external amenity 
space is considered. Across Phase 3 all of the units provide the required external amenity space 
proposed within the SPD. Therefore, the development does meet the required open space set out in 
Policy HG5 of the Local Plan and as such the scheme has met the Policy requirement for this area 
and has complied with the requirements set out within the SPD guidance. 

 
9. Conclusions 

 

9.1 The proposed development is of an acceptable layout, appearance and scale which is considered to 
deliver a high quality public realm for future users which offers a diverse mix of residential 
accommodation as well as valuable public open space.  It is considered that the details of layout, 
landscaping, scale and appearance of Phase 3 of the development meet with expectations as set 
out within the masterplan agreed at the outline stage, in terms of the location of the housing, the 
associated open space and infrastructure required to support the development. 

 

9.2 The layout provides a road, cycleway and path network that fully supports the development 
proposed, with car parking provision adequate to meet the reasonable needs of the development in 
accordance with standards set out in Appendix C of the adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 
However, specific conditions have been added to this application in order to further define specific 
elements of the highway corridor, despite this highways have no objection to the proposed layout. 

 

9.3 It is considered that the scale and appearance of the development is in keeping with the character of 
the area and is of a high quality in accordance with the requirements of the policy EN5 of the 
Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 

9.4 The landscaping of the scheme has been detailed in a manner that supports the masterplan, but 
also recognises the importance of retaining existing trees of quality and providing the basis for 
improving the habitat by choosing appropriate tree, shrub and grass species. This is in accordance 
with policy EN3: Open Space and Green and Blue Links and policy EN4: Protecting and Enhancing 
Biodiversity. 
 

9.5 On the basis of the above the development is therefore deemed to be compliant with the relevant 
local and national planning policies and is considered acceptable.  

 
10. Recommendation 

 
Approval subject to the conditions outlined below in accordance with the requirements outlined in 
this report.  

 

Page 75



 

 

 

 
11. Conditions and Reasons  

 

 
1. The development hereby approved shall only be carried out in accordance with the 

following drawings and documents including the recommendations and specifications contained 
therein insofar as they do not prejudice the discharge of conditions attached to the original 
outline permission 0308/2016 or those below. 

 
Architectural Plans  
PL001A – Location Plan  
PL010C – Site Layout Plan (Phase 3)  
PL011 – Site Layout (highlighting amendments)  
PL020 – Materials and Boundary Plan (Phase 3)  
PL030 – Tenure Plan (Phase 3)  
PL400 – Street Scene (Phase 3)  
Design and Access Statement Rev D  
Edp4421_r004 Rev A Badger Survey  
P17-0864_303 Rev I – Tree and Hedgerow Retention Plan  
P17-0864_301 Rev H – Tree and Hedgerow Retention Plan  
P17-0864_013D Illustrative Masterplan  
P17-0864_014C Phasing Plan  
Elevation/Floor Plans  
BWA12-PL301 - Kenley Mid  
BWA12-PL302 – Kenley End  
BWA12-PL303 – Palmerston End  
BWA12-PL304 – Ennerdale  
BWA12-PL306 – Moresby  
BWA12-PL309 – Chester  
BWA12-PL310 – Alderney  
BWA12-PL311 – Hale  
BWA12-PL313 – Ambersham-Maldon  
BWA12-PL317 – Lamberton  
BWA12-PL320 – T58 &59  
BWA12-PL322 - T65  
BWA12-PL323 – T67 End  
BWA12-PL324 – T67 Mid  
BWA12-PL325 – T69  
BWA12-PL326 – T74  
BWA12-PL329 – Ellerton  
BWA12-PL330 – Kennford  
BWA12-PL351 – Single Garage  
BWA12-PL352 – Double Garage  
BWA12-PL353 – Sub Station  
BWA25-PL301 – Roseberry  
BWA25-PL302 – Roseberry Variant  
BWA25-PL303 – Roseberry Mid  
BWA25-PL304 – Kingsville  
BWA25-PL350 – Bin Store  
BWA25-PL351A – Cycle Store  
BWA25-PL352A – Cycle Store 2  
Technical Detail  
3100B – General Arrangement Layout  
3101B – General Arrangement Layout  
3102B – Drainage Layout  
3103B – Drainage Layout  
3104B – Kerbing Layout  

Page 76



3105B – Kerbing Layout  
3107B – Section 38 Layout  
3108B – Section 38 Layout  
3113B – Refuse Tracking Layout  
3114B – Refuse Tracking Layout  
3115A – Pedestrian Visibility  
3116A – Pedestrian Visibility  
3117A – Private Vehicular Visibility  
3118A – Private Vehicular Visibility  
3119 – Pedestrian Visibility  
3400A – Highway Construction Details 
BWA25 PL004K – Phase 3 Garden Compliance 

Reason: To define this permission. 

 

2. Before first occupation of each dwelling hereby permitted, appropriate visibility splays in 
connection with the access serving that dwelling, shall be provided with nothing within those 
splays higher than 600 mm above the level of the adjacent footway, in accordance with the 
current standards of the Highway Authority and shall thereafter be so maintained. Reason: In the 
interests of Highway Safety in accordance with Policies EN5 and SU2 of the Tamworth Local 
Plan 2006-2031. 

 

3. Before first occupation of each dwelling hereby permitted, the access serving that dwelling to the 
rear of the public highway shall be surfaced in a bound and porous material for a minimum 
distance of five metres back from the highway boundary and shall thereafter be so maintained. 
Reason: In the interests of Highway Safety in accordance with Policies EN5 and SU2 of the 
Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
4. Before the first occupation of each dwelling hereby permitted, a surface water drainage 

interceptor, connected to a surface water outfall shall be installed across the access of the 
respective dwelling, immediately to the rear of the highway boundary unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Reason: In the interests of Highway Safety in accordance 
with Policies EN5 and SU2 of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
5. Secure, covered and safe cycle parking facilities for each dwelling shall be provided prior to the 

first occupation of that dwelling in accordance with a scheme that has first been submitted to and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The approved facilities shall be retained in 
perpetuity. Reason: In the interests of Highway Safety in accordance with Policies EN5 and SU2 
of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
6. Before first occupation of each dwelling hereby permitted, the parking and turning facilities for the 

benefit of that dwelling, as shown on the Site Plan –the Site Plan Phase 3 Drawing shall be 
implemented. Thereafter the onsite parking and turning provision shall be so maintained in 
perpetuity. Reason: In the interests of Highway Safety in accordance with Policies EN5 and SU2 
of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 
 

7. Notwithstanding the submitted details, the flood compensation/storage area shall be constructed 
in accordance with the Brookbanks Flood Risk Assessment dated 01/02/2017. Reason: To 
reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants. 
 

8. Notwithstanding the submitted details, the finished floor levels shall be set at 600 mm above the 
10 year plus 30% climate change event. Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed 
development and future occupants. 

 
9. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping and boundary 

treatment approved shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the 
occupation of the buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and 
any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, 
are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting 
season with others of a similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives 
written consent to any variation. Reason: In the interests of the setting and visual appearance of 
the development, and in accordance with Policy EN5 Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

Page 77



 
10. Notwithstanding the provisions of Classes A, B and D of Schedule 2 Part 1 of the Town and 

Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re- 
enacting that Order). Reason: To ensure adequate amenity space for the proposed dwellings in 
accordance with Policies EN5 and SU2 of the adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031.  
 

11. The garages indicated on the approved plans shall be retained for the parking of motor vehicles 
and cycles. They shall at no time be converted to living accommodation without the prior 
express permission of the Local Planning Authority. Reason: In the interests of Highway Safety 
in accordance with Policies EN5 and SU2 of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
12. Notwithstanding the provisions of Class A of Schedule 2 Part 2 of the Town and Country Planning 

(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order), 
no walls, fences or other means of enclosure shall be erected forward of the principal elevations 
and side elevations of the dwelling, or boundary walls or fences to those dwelling, except as 
authorised under the submitted application, without the prior grant of planning permission on an 
application made in that regard to the Local Planning Authority.  Reason: In order to maintain the 
character of street, public space and adjacent footpath as secured under the plans hereby 
approved in accordance with Policy EN5 Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
 

Page 78



Welcome to the 

Planning Committee of 

30th March 2021

P
age 79



Application for consideration:

0012/2021 Dosthill Primary School

Variation of condition 2 of planning permission 0409/2019: revised

drawings and documents submitted relating to the repositioning of the

haul road.

P
age 80



0012/2021 Dosthill Primary School

Previously approved 

Location Plan 

(Planning Permission

ref. 0409/2019)

P
age 81



0012/2021 Dosthill Primary School

Amended Location Plan

P
age 82



Application for consideration:

0012/2021 Dosthill Primary School

Variation of condition 2 of planning permission 0409/2019: revised

drawings and documents submitted relating to the repositioning of the

haul road.

Officer Recommendation:

Approve with conditions

P
age 83



Are there any speakers?

Yes No

P
age 84



Addressing the committee

You have 3 minutes to address the Committee 

The time will begin when you start to speak

When the last slide goes red please stop 

speaking

Please switch on your microphone now

P
age 85



Start

Are you ready?

P
age 86



Speaker:

3 Minutes Remaining 

P
age 87



Speaker:

1 Minute Remaining 

P
age 88



Speaker:

30 Seconds Remaining 

P
age 89



10 Seconds Remaining 

Speaker:

10 Seconds Remaining 

P
age 90



FINISH

P
age 91



Are there any other speakers…

NoYes

P
age 92



Committee

Consideration

P
age 93



0105/2021 – 4-6 Woodhouse Lane

Variation of conditions relating to approved 

planning permission ref. 0323/2019 -

condition 2 (approved plans) and condition 

6 (onsite parking provision)

P
age 94



0105/2021 – 4-6 Woodhouse Lane

Location Plan

Proposed 

new 

parking 

area

Previous 

parking 

area

P
age 95



0105/2021 – 4-6 Woodhouse Lane

Previously approved Location Plan

P
age 96



Application for consideration

0105/2021 – 4-6 Woodhouse Lane

Variation of conditions relating to approved 

planning permission ref. 0323/2019 -

condition 2 (approved plans) and condition 

6 (onsite parking provision)

Officer Recommendation:

Approve with conditions

P
age 97



Are there any speakers?

Yes No

P
age 98



Addressing the committee

You have 3 minutes to address the Committee 

The time will begin when you start to speak

When the last slide goes red please stop 

speaking

Please switch on your microphone now

P
age 99



Start

Are you ready?

P
age 100



Speaker:

3 Minutes Remaining 

P
age 101



Speaker:

1 Minute Remaining 

P
age 102



Speaker:

30 Seconds Remaining 

P
age 103



10 Seconds Remaining 

Speaker:

10 Seconds Remaining 

P
age 104



FINISH

P
age 105



Are there any other speakers…

NoYes

P
age 106



Committee

Consideration

P
age 107



Application for consideration:

0501/2020 – Former John Lewis Site

Subdivision of the existing retail unit to create two units

and to allow the sale of food from both units, alterations

to the external appearance of the building and the

existing car park, provision of a new service yard,

erection of a Class E unit with a drive thru facility and

associated landscaping works.

P
age 108



0501/2020 – Former John Lewis Site

Location Plan

P
age 109



0501/2020 – Former John Lewis Site

Aerial View

P
age 110



0501/2020 – Former John Lewis Site

Site Plan

P
age 111



0501/2020 – Former John Lewis Site

Elevations (1)

P
age 112



0501/2020 – Former John Lewis Site

Elevations (2)

P
age 113



0501/2020 – Former John Lewis Site

Landscaping

P
age 114



Application for consideration:

0501/2020 – Former John Lewis Site

Subdivision of the existing retail unit to create two units and to

allow the sale of food from both units, alterations to the external

appearance of the building and the existing car park, provision of

a new service yard, erection of a Class E unit with a drive thru

facility and associated landscaping works.

Officer Recommendation:

Approve with conditions

P
age 115



Are there any speakers?

Yes No

P
age 116



Addressing the committee

You have 3 minutes to address the Committee 

The time will begin when you start to speak

When the last slide goes red please stop 

speaking

Please switch on your microphone now

P
age 117



Start

Are you ready?

P
age 118



Speaker:

3 Minutes Remaining 

P
age 119



Speaker:

1 Minute Remaining 

P
age 120



Speaker:

30 Seconds Remaining 

P
age 121



10 Seconds Remaining 

Speaker:

10 Seconds Remaining 

P
age 122



FINISH

P
age 123



Are there any other speakers…

NoYes

P
age 124



Committee

Consideration

P
age 125



0477/2020 – 58 Albert Road 

New disability accessible treatment room with 

covered link (re-submission of 0238/2020)

P
age 126



0477/2020 – 58 Albert Road 

Location Plan

P
age 127



0477/2020 – 58 Albert Road 

Existing Site Plan Proposed Site Plan

P
age 128



0477/2020 – 58 Albert Road 

Floorplans and Elevations

P
age 129



0477/2020 – 58 Albert Road 

Refused plans for application 0105/2017

P
age 130



0477/2020 – 58 Albert Road 

Extracts from Appeal Decision 0105/2017

P
age 131



0477/2020 – 58 Albert Road 

Original Plans from approved planning application 0220/2019

P
age 132



0477/2020 – 58 Albert Road 

Amended plans from application 0220/2019 

P
age 133



0477/2020 – 58 Albert Road 

Plans from refused planning application 0238/2020

P
age 134



Application for consideration:

0477/2020 – 58 Albert Road 

New disability accessible treatment room with 

covered link (re-submission of 0238/2020)

Officer recommendation:

Refuse

P
age 135



Are there any speakers?

Yes No

P
age 136



Addressing the committee

You have 3 minutes to address the Committee 

The time will begin when you start to speak

When the last slide goes red please stop 

speaking

Please switch on your microphone now

P
age 137



Start

Are you ready?

P
age 138



Speaker:

3 Minutes Remaining 

P
age 139



Speaker:

1 Minute Remaining 

P
age 140



Speaker:

30 Seconds Remaining 

P
age 141



10 Seconds Remaining 

Speaker:

10 Seconds Remaining 

P
age 142



FINISH

P
age 143



Are there any other speakers…

NoYes

P
age 144



Committee

Consideration

P
age 145



0014/2021 – Land at Dunstall Farm

Reserved Matters application for the re-plan of

approved planning permission ref. 0433/2019 for

Phase 3 layout comprising application for

appearance, landscaping, layout and scale for 232

dwellings (a reduction of nine dwellings from

previously approved layout).

P
age 146



0014/2021 – Land at Dunstall Farm

Location Plan

P
age 147



0014/2021 – Land at Dunstall Farm

Amended Site Plan

P
age 148



Application for consideration:

0014/2021 – Land at Dunstall Farm

Reserved Matters application for the re-plan of

approved planning permission ref. 0433/2019 for

Phase 3 layout comprising application for

appearance, landscaping, layout and scale for 232

dwellings (a reduction of nine dwellings from

previously approved layout).

Officer recommendation:

Approve with conditions

P
age 149



Are there any speakers?

Yes No

P
age 150



Addressing the committee

You have 3 minutes to address the Committee 

The time will begin when you start to speak

When the last slide goes red please stop 

speaking

Please switch on your microphone now

P
age 151



Start

Are you ready?

P
age 152



Speaker:

3 Minutes Remaining 

P
age 153



Speaker:

1 Minute Remaining 

P
age 154



Speaker:

30 Seconds Remaining 

P
age 155



10 Seconds Remaining 

Speaker:

10 Seconds Remaining 

P
age 156



FINISH

P
age 157



Are there any other speakers…

NoYes

P
age 158



Committee

Consideration

P
age 159



Thank you for 

attending

Next Meeting:

To be confirmed

P
age 160


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	4a Dosthill Primary School Variation
	4b Woodhouse Lane Variation
	4c Former John Lewis redevelopment
	4d Albert Road
	4e Dunstall Farm ph3 re-plan
	Full Presentation 30.03.21


